Draft April 2006





Prepared for:

The Canadian International Development Agency (CIDA)

And

One Sky - Canadian Institute of Sustainable Living

Ecosystem-Based Natural Resource Management

In the Forests of Cross River State



TABLE OF CONTENTS

PROJECT SCOPE AND OBJECTIVES	2
GENESIS OF THE PROJECT	2
PURPOSE OF THE REPORT	2
THE CONTEXT FOR ECOSYSTEM-BASED MANAGEMENT IN CROSS RIVER	STATE
	2 2
SOCIO-ECONOMIC CONTEXT	5
Link Between Human Well-being and Environment Building Socio-Economic Factors Into EBM	5 6 7
DEVELOPING AN EBM PLAN FOR CROSS RIVER STATE	7
ECOSYSTEM-BASED MANAGEMENT – WHAT IS IT?	7
EBM PRINCIPLES	8
METHODS USED IN PRODUCING AN EBM PLAN FOR CROSS RIVER STATE	10
Available Inventory Products	10
Analysis Results	14
MANAGEMENT GUIDELINES	21
MANAGEMENT INTENT AND RESOURCE USE GUIDELINES	21
RECOMMENDED MANAGEMENT PRACTICES/STRATEGIES	24
Terrestrial Biodiversity Conservation	24
Riparian and Aquatic Ecosystems	
Hunting and Fishing	
Water	
Communities	
Tourism and Recreation	
Non-Timber Forest Products	
	28 20
	29
KNOWLEDGE GAPS AND FUTURE WORK	30
SCIENTIFIC/TECHNICAL	30
SOCIO-ECONOMIC	31
BENEFITS OF THE PLAN	32
APPENDIX A: PARTIALLY ANNOTATED BIBLIOGRAPHY	34
APPENDIX B: KEY MAPS	48

PROJECT SCOPE AND OBJECTIVES

GENESIS OF THE PROJECT

CIDA has had a bilateral program in Nigeria since 1998 with emphasis in two states – Borno and Cross River State (CRS). The program emphasizes environment, agriculture, and health. In 2003, CIDA contracted a Canadian NGO (One Sky) to deliver an environmental capacity building program. One Sky fostered six north-south partnerships that would further CIDA programming. One such alliance was that formed between Living Earth Nigeria Foundation (LENF) and LM Forest Resource Solutions Ltd. (LM) to develop a bioregional framework for sustainable resource use and ecosystem conservation. Both organizations (LENF and LM) work in forest resource management and conservation planning and, in the course of their discussions regarding CRS, noted that there had been no landscape level, strategic analysis of ecosystem resilience. They decided to collaborate to develop an ecosystem-based management plan for the state.

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

The fundamental purpose of an ecosystem-based management plan is to provide organizations responsible for resource use planning with a strategic framework for resource use decisions that recognizes environmental risk and:

- identifies areas of critical ecological significance
- delineates core ecosystems
- outlines management goals and operating principles,
- outlines monitoring requirements and implementation considerations
- elucidates available data and information gaps making it easier for stakeholders to identify priorities for future work
- serves as a template for any future ecosystem-based analysis in CRS or other regions.

The plan is not meant to define land use rules but rather provide broad guidance on activities that will be ecologically appropriate.

It is expected that the plan will provide useful direction to senior government bureaucrats in the Forestry Commission, Ministry of Environment, and Parks Branch as well as industry planners, forest management committee leaders, and senior individuals within NGOs concerned with natural resource use and conservation. Examples of the kinds of broad zoning that might come out of the plan include the identification of extractive forest reserves, areas of conservation tourism, or areas of potential timber harvesting.

THE CONTEXT FOR ECOSYSTEM-BASED MANAGEMENT IN CROSS RIVER STATE

BIOLOGICAL CONTEXT

Tropical forests are among the most diverse natural environments on earth and their influence on climate, the gene pool, and global energy systems reaches far beyond local borders. The accelerating rate at which these forests are being destroyed around the world has garnered international attention and there is increasing commitment to stop the loss and ensure forest use is more sustainable. The process of forest loss is particularly well advanced in Nigeria where more than 90% of the original moist forest area has been cleared. Much of that remaining is within Cross River State. Approximately 35% of the total area within the state is forested (7610 km²) and, together with

similar adjacent areas in Cameroon, the existing forest is one of the best examples of contiguous, relatively undisturbed tropical moist forest in Africa. Forest management practices, however, are far from ideal. In a recent report (1999) commissioned by the Federal Department of Forestry it was concluded that:

- Forest management is practiced at a very basic level within the state.
- Forest management planning is virtually non-existent.
- High forests are being degraded and eradicated at an alarming rate.
- Forest resources are not being managed on a sustainable basis.
- Reinvestment in the resource is virtually non-existent.
- The current trend must be halted to avoid environmental disaster.

Cross River State is located between 4 1/2 degrees and 7 degrees north of the equator at the western edge of the Guinean-Congolian basin (2.8 million km²). The state, covering 21,560 km² is bordered by Cameroon to the east, the Nigerian states of Benue, Enugu, Abia, and Akwa Ibom to the north and west, and by the Gulf of Guinea to the south.

The area was likely a refuge during past arid climate phases and was probably isolated during the Pleistocene. This fact combined with variable rainfall and a pronounced elevation gradient in some areas has resulted in an area of outstanding biological diversity with high endemism. It is estimated that 12% of the ~4000 plant species in the area are endemic and that wildlife species are diverse (e.g. over 1000 species of forest butterfly) with high levels of mammal, snake, and amphibian endemism.



Figure 1. Geographic location of Cross River State

Rainfall varies from 1800 to 4500 mm annually with the driest period (longer in the north than in the south) occurring from November to April. There is a general decrease in rainfall away from the coastal areas northwards and westwards. Peak flows in most rivers occur towards the end of the wet season in September or October and rivers can rise by as much as 2.5 m above dry season levels. Mean annual temperature is about 27 degrees.

Most of the state is rolling or flat with significant areas of mangrove along the coast and inland freshwater wetlands, particularly along the Cross River. Forested areas generally occur on rolling and mountainous topography rising to 1180m in the Oban Division of the National Park and 1820m in the Okwangwo Division.

Cross River soils are predominantly of five types. These are: (i) the steep, shallow, yellowish and red, gravely soils on the Oban and Obudu Hills; (ii) the deep, lateritic, fertile soils on the Cross River Plain; (iii) the dark clayey basaltic soils in Ikorn; (iv) the sandy, heavily leached, sandy soils on the older coastal plain; and (v) the swampy hydromorphic soils of the lower deltaic coastal plain that are usually flooded during the rains. Soils on the coastal plain are predominantly sands and silts with low cohesion values, high internal pore pressure and seepage forces, and low angle of internal friction making them highly susceptible to gully erosion. Because of the intensity of weathering (due to high rainfall levels), soils throughout the state are often deficient in weatherable minerals. Soils in forested areas can be generally characterized as acid, medium to coarse textured, with low cation exchange capacity, and leached of mineral elements. Conservation of organic matter is a vitally important aspect of maintaining soil fertility in these types of soils.

Although a variety of forest inventory work has been completed, no detailed classification maps have been produced for the state. The most detailed mapping comes from satellite imagery (Flasse, 2003) in which vegetation cover was broken down into the nine basic types listed in table one.

Tropical High Forest	29.71%
Open forest	5.60%
Swamp	2.40%
Mangrove	4.41%
Regenerating forest	0.07%
Oil Palm plantation	0.86%
Rubber plantations	0.62%
Gmelina plantation	0.47%

Table 1. Vegetation categories in Cross River State.

Tropical high forests (THF), largely uneven-aged, semi-deciduous or evergreen rainforests, represent almost 30% of the land base in CRS. Most of this is considered to be lowland rainforest.

Natural disturbance agents include pathogens and wind, with minor levels of disturbance from wildlife (e.g. elephants and primates). These agents typically create small forest gaps providing some opportunity for seral species to regenerate, however, much of the regeneration is under the canopy of mature trees and so most species in the tropical high forest are shade tolerant. A far more important source of disturbance is anthropogenic, including: slash and burn agriculture, logging, burning to enhance grazing opportunities for cattle, and establishment of exotic plantations. Across Nigeria, human activities have led to a 96% reduction in lowland rain forest.

The Cross River and numerous associated tributaries form the main water system in the state but there are also the Calabar, Kwa, Ebe, and Akpa-Yafe rivers draining the southeast part of the state. These rivers drain into an extensive area of mangrove. Delta formation is limited.

Within the many rivers, lakes, and wetlands in the state, about 230 fish species have been recorded, 104 of which occur in the Cross River which has the highest diversity index of all the rivers. In the upper Cross River there are ~ 90 fish species, at least four of which are endemic. One author felt that Cross River had more fish species than any other comparable west African river basin. Despite this, it is not considered to be particularly productive in terms of fish yield, with an estimated annual catch of 7,800 tonnes (~ 10 kg/ha/yr), 5000 of which come from the fresh water zone. Fishing has been found to contribute as much to the local consumption of protein and village economies as hunting in the region. Primary species caught include Tilapias, Clarias, Labeos, and Chrysichthys. Both finfish and shellfish are also important in the southeastern part of the state where many species are dependant on mangroves and their inland counterparts (swamps and mudflats). Fish stocks in the rivers are generally replenished from their adjacent floodplains after each flood season. Any phenomenon that disrupts the natural hydrological cycle of flooding or tidal flow is expected to affect fish species diversity and productivity, including in wetlands.

SOCIO-ECONOMIC CONTEXT

Human Intervention and Impacts

Nigeria is the most populous country in Africa (~ 140 people/km² versus 3/km² in Canada versus 6/km² in Gabon) and although Cross River is the least populous state it still has over 2 million people (1991 census data) in over 620 recognizable human settlements (65 people/km²)¹. If the parks are not considered part of the inhabitable area, population density is closer to 100 people/km². The vast majority of the population live in rural areas, in small nucleated settlements. Along the creeks and swamps of the lower Cross River valley, many of the small settlements consist of fishing camps which are occupied for only a few months in the year.

Population pressure of this magnitude is the primary reason for the depletion of tropical high forest in Nigeria and elsewhere. Forested areas are coming under increasing pressure from slash and burn agriculture, hunting, and industrial activities such as logging and plantation establishment. Farmland and plantations now occupy almost 60% of the land area in CRS.

Although significant tracts of land within CRS have protected area status, hunting continues virtually unabated in many areas, including the national park. Despite recent progress in protecting gorillas from hunting (no confirmed killing of gorillas in the park within the last 5 years), the bushmeat trade continues to be a major driver in depleting wildlife resources in Cross River State. A recent study highlighted that communities living near rain forest in Nigeria obtained as much as 84% of their total animal protein needs from bushmeat. Central Africans eat as much meat as most Europeans or North Americans, most of which comes from wildlife. Thirty million people eat 1.1 million tons of wildlife each year – the equivalent of 4 million cattle.

Habitat destruction from agricultural practices and improved access and transport (of meat) resulting from new road construction into forested areas for timber harvesting, are the main reasons for declining wildlife populations and even extirpation in some areas. Ecosystem functioning is dependent on the presence of all components of the system, including wildlife, which contributes to important processes like seed dispersal, forest disturbance and microclimate, nutrient cycling, population dynamics, and the gene pool. Destruction of habitat for agriculture will also disrupt natural ecological processes such as watershed hydrology, nutrient cycling, evapotranspiration, and terrain stability.

¹ Recent estimates of population are as much as 3 million people.



Figure 2. Products of the bush meat trade. CERCOPAN photo

Link Between Human Well-being and Environment

Human culture and economies are a subset of ecosystems and so human activities that compromise ecosystem integrity will eventually lead to decreased human well-being. Agriculture and forestry systems that work with nature, rather than against it are most likely to be sustainable.

The majority of people living in Cross River State live in a rural setting. Many of these communities are forest dependant; it is estimated that two thirds of people living in such communities depend on the forest for a wide range of goods and services including wild foods, clean water, forage or animal feed, fuelwood, medicines, building materials (homes, furniture), spiritual refuge, and sacred places. In one study in Cross River some 15 seeds, 3 oil seeds, 44 fruits, 5 vegetables, 13 spices, 25 mushrooms, and 69 medicinal plants were collected and used by forest dwelling communities. It is estimated that forest resources account for up to 78% of family income in rural Cross River State. Use of the forest can, however, become unsustainable. It is well documented that soil fertility experiences a rapid decline following removal of natural vegetation in tropical forests. Unlike temperate climates, there is little organic reserve (humus) in most upland tropical soils. Although farmers typically leave cultivated areas fallow for a number of years to compensate for this, growing population pressure has meant increased land use intensity and shorter fallow periods, resulting in new plots of land being cleared at greater distance from villages, deeper within the forest. In addition to a reduction in crop productivity following insufficient fallow periods, such practices can also lead to an increase in crop pests. The soil resource is a primary component of all terrestrial ecosystems, and any environmental stressor that alters the natural function of the soil has the potential to influence the vitality, species composition, and hydrology of forest ecosystems. Unfortunately, on the highly weathered soils of the Oban and Obudu hills and old coastal plain, population pressure has meant that vegetation litter as a source of nutrients can no longer be assured.

Increasing population pressure also means that non-timber forest products are also being harvested further and further afield. This is sometimes compounded by unsustainable practices such as, for example, the destruction of trees in pursuit of their fruits, pulling plants out by their roots, or stripping off an entire vine instead of the leaves only (Afang harvesting).

Although many rural residents understand the link between forest cover and soil fertility, their understanding of NTFP regeneration, fish stocks and recovery rates, and habitat needs and

reproduction rates of forest animals is not always as strong. Lack of data or understanding in such situations can lead to practices which are not sustainable and make regulation difficult. Compounding the problem are overt acts of environmental abuse such as the use of pesticides or natural poisons to kill fish in a stream during the spawning season, or completely emptying pond areas of water to harvest all the fish. Such practices lead to destruction of breeding capacity and damage to the flora and insect fauna important to the system.

The story is the same with hunting pressure and wildlife. Villagers often complain that animals are scarcer and one must go further to find them. Too many areas have become an "empty forest" with few animals and compromised ecological process that will eventually lead to major environmental degradation such as loss of forest cover, change in the forest structure and species, unstable terrain, increased erosion, and climate change. Finally, increased population pressure can also lead to water pollution, sickness, and decreased human productivity.

Building Socio-Economic Factors Into EBM

Any attempt at regulating forest use that does not recognize the needs of local communities who are accustomed to access to the forest is unlikely to succeed. Conservation goals and the need for a fully functional ecosystem must be balanced with the welfare of forest dependant communities. For EBM to be effective, resource use guidelines must be ecologically sustainable but also reflect social, cultural and economic considerations. In a practical sense, EBM can only be effective when there is a balance between conservation and development.

Innovative solutions will be required; for example, developing agro-forestry techniques that use cultivation-tolerant NTFPs (nutritive, utilitarian, or medicinal) in areas that are not critical to ecological functioning, domestication of selected wildlife species, allowing "extractive reserves" based on scientific evidence and local regulation, conservation tourism, and economic reward for the maintenance of forest goods and services important to others living away from the forest (e.g. clean air and water). This latter might include, for example, extending micro-credit and infrastructure funding to some villagers or village institutions in exchange for cooperation with resource management authorities. Another example might be ensuring that the value of mimosap oil (extracted without felling the tree) is known and considered before plans are made to fall such trees during timber harvesting operations.

DEVELOPING AN EBM PLAN FOR CROSS RIVER STATE

ECOSYSTEM-BASED MANAGEMENT – WHAT IS IT?

Ecosystem-based management is an adaptive approach to managing resource use that seeks to ensure the coexistence of healthy, fully functioning ecosystems and human communities. The intent is to maintain those spatial and temporal characteristics of ecosystems such that component species and ecological process can be sustained and human well-being supported and improved. Ecosystem-based planning at the landscape level (30,000 to 500,000 ha) aims to maintain overall ecological integrity in landscapes and watersheds with high conservation values, but allows a focus on economic development in landscapes and watersheds with greater economic values. The underlying assumption is that **it is not necessary to sustain all species and processes everywhere, all the time, to maintain ecological integrity**.

The process of designing an ecosystem-based management plan is closely aligned with conservation area design and usually involves identifying core reserves and connecting corridors, multiple use zones, and land use guidelines. This requires an understanding of ecosystem process and function - which areas are ecologically robust and which are sensitive. In Nigeria this is a long term endeavour

that will benefit from a great deal more knowledge. Yet it is imperative that, working with the best available information, and using adaptive management, a broad framework for management be developed and used. It was the intent of this project to use the best available information to develop an ecosystem-based management plan that will provide landscape-level strategies to minimize the risk of ecological degradation and its consequences on human well-being.

EBM PRINCIPLES

In North America, ecosystem-based management recognizes that people are a part of the ecosystems in which they live. Because of this, EBM plans normally go beyond protecting ecosystem integrity to include the well-being of human communities. This should include ensuring that people living within an ecosystem have a fair share of the benefits of that ecosystem. The corollary to this principle is that those who could potentially benefit from forest use must help find solutions for ensuring that its use is sustainable. Strong environmental protection, a strong economy, and a strong social fabric are directly linked.

EBM planning can take on many forms but there are several underlying principles involved: *The precautionary principle*. Avoid potentially harmful activities in the absence of scientific certainty about whether they are harmful. Approach resource use cautiously with the explicit intent of maintaining all parts of the system. Purposefully plan to learn from experience and actively test assumptions to achieve continuous improvement.

Emulate natural disturbance regimes. Species are adapted to, and, therefore, more likely to persist, in the environment they have experienced historically. In ecosystem-based management one tries to emulate natural disturbance regimes to reduce the risk of disrupting ecosystem function. The more that managed forests resemble forests that were established from natural disturbances, the greater the probability that all native species and ecological processes will be maintained. *Maintain ecosystem elements within the natural range of variation.* In designing resource use, ensure that both ecosystem elements and processes are maintained within the natural range of variation.

Consider multiple scales (temporal and spatial). Maintenance of ecosystem function needs to occur at the landscape level as well as the regional and local level, in both the short term and long term. *Use indicators and surrogates to deal with ecological complexity.* Because ecosystems are so complex, especially in the Guinean-Congolian bioregion, we need to use some surrogate for measuring ecological integrity. An example would be whether there is sufficient habitat for certain focal species. An umbrella species is one that has broad habitat needs, generally over large areas. Ensuring adequate populations of these organisms will benefit many other species. An example might be elephants. Umbrella species would be used to assist in decisions about size, shape, and spatial distribution of habitat elements. A keystone species is one that plays a critical role in the ecosystem, enriching ecosystem function in a way that has bigger impact than numerical abundance might indicate. Hornbills for example, consume a quarter of all tree species in the THF and disperse seeds for up to 100km away. They play an important role in forest composition and structure.

Ensure planning and management are collaborative and supplement scientific/technical knowledge with local/indigenous knowledge and systems. In designing resource use, encourage broad participation in planning, respect the diverse values, traditions and aspirations of local communities, and incorporate the best of existing knowledge including traditional, local and scientific knowledge. *Provide for a diverse range of uses*. Management for a single use is risky and invites disaster if some element of ecological functioning is overlooked. Ensuring a diversity of uses reduces economic or cultural consequences. If something goes wrong with one type of use, there may be others to fall back on.

In practice these strategies are implemented by establishing:

- *Protected areas* relatively large undeveloped areas designated for protection by local peoples and/or government through specific authority or legislation. Protected areas may be established to:
 - protect representative samples of native ecosystems and seral stages, focusing on protecting examples of ecosystems that are rare or at-risk in the surrounding region
 - provide critical and seasonal habitat to sustain viable populations of all native species
 - protect regionally rare and/or unique landforms and biophysical features
 - protect culturally and socially significant areas and values, and
 - provide a benchmark for evaluating and comparing managed landscapes.
- Landscape, watershed, and site reserves which are areas where no, or very little, extractive resource use takes place, but the land is not formally designated under legislation. Reserves are established to:
 - protect specific resource values or biophysical features (e.g. cultural heritage resources and features, unstable terrain, scenic areas, and recreation features), and
 - achieve objectives regarding maintenance of ecosystem representation, wildlife habitat, movement corridors, riparian forest, and other landscape design elements.
- *Site/stand* **retention** *and management:* in which individual trees, groups of trees, plant communities, wildlife habitats, or other features are retained or managed on the site to sustain ecological structures in the unprotected landscape (e.g. wildlife habitat, old forest structure). Site planning and management should focus on:
 - maintaining biological legacies (e.g., coarse woody debris, snags, understory plants)
 - maintaining connectivity between landscape and watershed reserves
 - providing for seasonal and critical wildlife habitat, and
 - protecting special ecological elements (e.g., animal dens, rare plants, small wetlands, waterfalls, karst features, etc.).

In British Columbia, Canada, a multi-stakeholder group that included the provincial government, the forest, fishing, and mining industries, native groups, and the environmental movement, produced an Ecosystem-Based Management Handbook recommending that EBM planning incorporate the following eight design elements:

1. Representation of:

- a) Ecosystems (plant communities) that are rare in the landscape;
- b) High value wildlife habitat including wildlife trees;
- c) High value fish habitat;
- d) Riparian ecosystems;
- e) Karst (limestone bedrock formation)
- f) Connectivity areas for focal species;
- g) Unstable slopes; and
- h) Other ecological values
- 2. **Rare and endangered plant communities** Reserve 70 to 100% of rare plant and endangered plant communities.
- 3. **Stand level retention** Maintain a minimum of 15% minimum of the tree canopy in logged areas..
- 4. **Maintenance of seral stages within the natural range of variation** Maintain a variety of age classes)
- 5. **Estuaries (watershed scale) -** Maintain >90% of the natural riparian forest next to estuaries.
- 6. **Swamps and Gullies -** Maintain >50% of the natural riparian forest next to fans, forested swamps and small steep streams/gullies with unique microclimate.
- 7. **High Value Fish Habitat** Reserve all wetlands, active floodplains, active fluvial units and high value fish habitat including buffers (hydroriparian buffers are equal to at least 1.5 times the height of the dominant trees). Examples of high value fish habitat include: a) where fish

congregate e.g. where clear water streams enter murky rivers and holding pools; b) critical spawning habitat (e.g. larger spawning beds and spawning beds that support threatened or endangered runs); c) critical rearing habitat (e.g. small streams, floodplains, and side channels used for rearing).

METHODS USED IN PRODUCING AN EBM PLAN FOR CROSS RIVER STATE

As stated earlier, the approach used in this project was to adapt North American concepts and methods for ecosystem-based planning to the Nigerian context. To start, a number of questions were posed:

- Do we know when ecosystems are fully functioning?
- Do we need to know the historic range of natural variation?
- What level of departure from historic conditions is acceptable?
- Which surrogates can we use for ecological functioning?
- How do we measure ecological degradation?
- Which areas are ecologically robust?
- What types of data are available?
- What is their reliability?
- Should we use focal species, which ones?
- Should the study include only forested areas in CRS, all of CRS, or adjacent areas in Nigeria and Cameroon?

The answer to these questions lay in knowing whether sufficient information was available to support the kinds of analysis implicit in these questions.

Available Inventory Products

Mapping and forest inventory information we were able to acquire included:

- Two types of broad vegetation classification maps (digital maps produced from satellite imagery with vector based mapping for the whole state, and hard copy maps from 1972 1:40,000 air photos for the southern half of the state).
- 2001 orthophotos at a scale of 1:10,000.
- Three sources of topographic maps at 1:50,000, 1:125,000, and 1:200,000 with contour intervals of 15m, 45m, and 40m respectively.
- Broad maps depicting observed areas of elephant and gorilla use.
- Two inventory databases from 1993 (165 plots) and 1997 (98 plots) with detailed forest mensuration data for each plot including tree information, limited information on NTFPs and plot locations.
- Three inventory reports from 1967 (based on 4000 prism plots), 1994 (based on 130 two ha temporary sample plots, and 1997 (based on 98 plots) detailing, for the areas surveyed, such elements as tree species present, diameter, height, volume, vegetation class, some topographic information. Potential annual allowable cuts were also specified.
- One preliminary evaluation of volume increment and sustainable timber yields for the Oban Division of the Park and for an area north of Oban called Cross River South.

Table 2 provides more detail on the data and mapping products we acquired. Further information on sources is provided under separate cover.





Figure 3. Plot distribution from three separate forest resource inventories.

Figure 4. Example of an orthophoto.

Mapping Products with Associated Database		
2002 Vegetation Map from Satellite Imagery	A digital vegetation map (ARC vectors) for the entire state showing 8 classes of vegetation and normal mapping features. Associated plot data (from 1993 forest inventory) includes: 165 total plots with information on species, form code, diam, and volume. An AAC calculation was provided for all tropical high forest.	
1992 1:30,000 BW Air Photos (hard copy only)	Aerial photos are available through the Forestry Commission however, no flight line map could be found. The inventory associated with these photos may be the same as that noted for the satellite imagery.	
Mapping Products without Database		
2000/01 1:10,000 Orthophotos	231 scenes (10 km ² each) produced from aerial photos (TIFF format). Resolution is generally good (with fields, houses, roads, trails, water features, and forest canopy showing up very well) however many scenes with poor reproduction. Towns and rivers are labelled. Coverage for ~ 85% of the state.	
1982 1:200,000 Topographic Maps	Scanned topographic maps (contour interval of 40m) produced by the Soviet Union. Four obtained covering the areas missing in the 1:50,000 maps.	
1989 1:125,000 Land Use Maps of the Oban Hills	These are hard copy maps of the Southern half of CRS. Three maps: Land Units, Topography, and Land Use with roads, place names, water features shown on all of them. The land unit map shows, for some of the park and support zone only, lowland plains, dissected hills, hills, mountainous terrain and suitability for agriculture including agroforestry. The topography map shows contours (where available) with an interval of 150 feet. Contours missing for about half of the park. The land use map shows three broad categories of use:	

Table 2	Data and Manning	Droducto Acquiro	d for the Analysia
I able Z.	Data any Mapping	FIDUUCIS ACUUITE	

	cultivated land, large plantations, and forest.
2002 1:1 million Maps of the Niger Basin	Very broadly defined areas considered to be important hydrological basins, wetlands, fish areas, bird areas, vertebrate areas and areas important for hydrological and ecological processes. Produced in ARC format. Some maps cover parts of Cross River State.
2004 Elephant and Gorilla Population Mapping	Cursory maps depicting observed areas of elephant and gorilla use were available from NGOs such as the Nigerian Conservation Foundation (NCF).
Inventory Data or Report	ts Without Maps
1994 High Forest and Swamp Inventory Outside the Parks	130 two ha Temporary Sample Plots were established in 1991 outside the National Park (sample intensity = 1 plot per 20 km2 – 0.1%). 118 in HF and 12 in Swamp Forest. All trees greater than 10 cm and NTFPs were sampled. Statistically valid stem number estimates were made. A variety of boundaries (state, LGAs, forest reserves, park, support zone, vegetation types and areas of erosion risk) were digitized using Idrisi (map not available). Area classified as erosion prone if it was >6 degree slope. Growth rates stated in section 3 including diameter and volume increment and AAC by region is provided in appendices.
1967 Survey of Forest Resources in Uwet- Odot, Ekinta, and Oban	Line intercept survey used to establish 4,000 variable area plots. Plots spaced at 500 foot intervals. Circular sub-plots used for regeneration estimates. Trees >6 inches dbh were tallied by species. Heights measured as well as mid bole diameter with a relascope. Volume tables produced for 153 species from 8,000 sample trees. A map of plot locations shown. Forest cover types included ridge forest, high forest, low forest, disturbed forest, swamp forest, raphia swamp forest, and oxystigma swamp forest. Merchantable heights and volumes for developed species provided. Total areas and volumes for each forest type provided.
1997 Nigerian Reconnaissance Inventory of Forest Resources	This is a database for a 1997 forest cover inventory and classification of the country. Classifications in primary forest include: Lowland Rainforest (Dry), Lowland Rainforest (Moist), Riparian Forest, Forested Freshwater Swamp, Montane Forest, Mangrove Forest, Derived Savanna, Guinea Savanna, Sudan Savanna. No classifications were provided for plantations. In CRS there were only 17 clusters established, only 4 of which were in high forest, representing 98 total plots. 30 plots were rainforest and the rest were plantations. Total trees – 1834, of which 1307 are in a high forest cluster. Plot data in high forest includes: cluster lat and long, ecological type, management recommendation, density class (30, 60, >60% crown clos), disturbance class, terrain description (flat poorly drained, flat well drained, gully, lower slope, mid slope, upper slope, ridge, rock slide), slope class (<10, 111 – 30, > 30), altitude, soil texture, depth to seepage, hardpan, and watertable, soil colour, tree species, dbh, butt ht, stem ht, diameters at mid and top, bark thickness, bole quality. NTFP information in high forest includes: species, form, abundance, part used, and uses. NB: not all information that could be recorded is available for every plot!

1996 Geomatics Vegetation Classification Report for Formecu and the National Gov't	Produced a land classification map for the country that has 33 different classifications. The report is in several volumes. It was supported by CIDA. There are example maps in the report but we were unable to obtain the original files or hard copy maps. The land classifications are very broad.
2003 Lowe Report on Sustainable Timber Yield in Nigeria	Preliminary estimates were made of volume increments and sustained timber yields for localities sampled within five high forest reserves in different climatic/geographic regions of Nigeria (Oban Division of the Park was one and Cross River South was another). Two plots were established per square mile (2.59 km ²). Data were recorded for all trees >5 cm DBH. Regeneration of exploitable trees >1 m tall were also sampled, and soil samples were taken for laboratory analysis. Volumes were calculated using Sutter's taper functions. Mean annual increments ranged from about 4.2 ±1.0 cu m/ha in Oban, to 5.0 ±0.5 cu m/ha in dryer types, and 6.5 ±1.3 cu m/ha in wetter forests. Standing bole volumes in the plots ranged from 110 to 340 cu m/ha and standing basal areas from 16 to 37 m ² /ha



Figure 5. Example of an inventory database (Reimer 1997) without associated mapping.

Based on the information described above, we concluded that it would not be possible to undertake the level of ecosystem-based analysis commonly used in North America because:

- Some mapping products were not available.
- There was no database associated with some map products.
- · Resolution of vegetation classes was too coarse.
- Habitat needs of most focal species have not been well defined.
- Budget was insufficient to establish a correlation between habitat and available aerial photography (orthophotos).

A broader approach was therefore used in which we:

1. Acquired and reviewed literature relevant to ecosystem functioning and management of tropical high forest.

- Interviewed experts such as Richard Lowe (forest biometrician), Elizabeth Rogers (primate specialist), John Oates (professor of ecology), Stephane Flasse (remote sensing expert), and Daniel Otu (forestry specialist).
- 3. Identified, mapped, and evaluated level of disturbance in watersheds containing tropical high forest.
- 4. Identified and mapped areas of high stream density, wetlands, and mangrove forest (from orthophotos and existing hard copy maps).
- 5. Identified and mapped areas of potentially unstable or erosion prone terrain in areas with tropical high forest.
- 6. Identified and mapped potential habitat for two keystone species (gorilla and elephant) based on information from experts and literature on habitat requirements.
- 7. Identified core ecosystems and connecting corridors.
- 8. Developed management zones and resource use guideline recommendations.

Analysis Results

Literature and Expert Interviews

More than 250 documents were reviewed covering a wide range of topics including such things as Poverty and the Environment, The Conservation – Development Interface, Cross River State Forestry Strategic Management Plan, The Relative Effects of Hunting and Habitat Destruction on Elephant Population Dynamics over Time, Vegetation Change Analysis Study for Nigeria Between 1976 and 1995, Rain Forest Conservation and the Needs of Local People, Western Gorilla Diet – A Synthesis From Six Sites, Biodiversity Patterns and Conservation in the Gulf of Guinea Forests, and A Community Wildlife Management Model from Mount

Community Wildlife Management Model from Mount Cameroon.

Despite the somewhat lengthy bibliography, there is a paucity of information on most aspects of ecosystembased planning as it relates to the forests of Cross River State. For this reason, a number of experts were consulted to augment our knowledge of ecosystem function in the area. Types of people interviewed included habitat specialists, growth and yield experts, ecologists from Nigeria, the United States, and the UK, remote sensing experts, a Canadian hydrologist, and various forestry specialists.

Preparation of a Base Map

Much of the analysis needed in this project was in the form of mapping of resource features. A base map was therefore prepared showing the state boundary, park boundaries, forested areas, and major rivers, roads, and settlements (see figure 6). The map was based on a forest cover mapping exercise conducted in 1994 by the state government using 1991 aerial photography, digitized using IDRISI. Precision and geo-location errors were rectified in 2002 by Stephane Flasse using Landsat 7 satellite imagery.



Figure 6. Base map. See Appendix B for larger-scale colour base map.

Analysis of Water Resources

Three types of landscape level analyses were performed: identification and mapping of wetlands, identification and mapping of areas with high stream density, and a watershed disturbance assessment. Wetland mapping produced by Flasse from satellite imagery was augmented using orthophotography. Additional areas were added only if they exceeded approximately 100 ha in size. Wetlands are unique and important habitats for many species, particularly bird life, juvenile fish, and herpefauna.

Areas of high stream density were identified and digitized from hard copies of British and Russian topographic maps. An area was considered to have high stream density if more than 2 streams per km² could be identifed. In a few cases orthophotos were used to augment stream locations shown on the topographic maps. Stream density is a good indicator of increased erosion potential, flooding, and increased sediment delivery as well as potential issues with access development and interruption of subsurface flow.



Figure 7. Map of state hydrology showing areas of high stream density, wetlands, and watersheds. See Appendix B for larger-scale colour hydrology map.

Watersheds (figure 7) were included in the disturbance analysis only if they encompassed forested areas and originated and ended in Cross River State. A coefficient of hydrologic integrity was developed for each of seven watersheds based on the degree to which natural conditions had been altered. For example, hydrological function in areas of undisturbed tropical high forest and wetlands were considered to be unaffected. Open forest and Gmelina forests were considered to be 70% hydrologically intact, regenerating forests were considered to be 50% intact, rubber plantations and oil palm plantation were considered to be 20% intact, and hydrologic function on farmland was considered to be 100% affected. The coefficient for each watershed was determined using GIS analysis to produce an area weighted rating based on the type of vegetation in it. Results are shown below. Based on this analysis, four of the seven watersheds are considered to be at risk for elevated peak flows and associated flooding, debris torrents, scouring and erosion, changes in water temperature budget, and ultimately infrastructure and habitat damage on lower reaches.

Table 3. Degree to which various watershed in the state are hydrologically intact.

		Coefficient of
Watershed	Area (ha)	Integrity
Afi	126,270	67
Akaram	39,609	96
Calabar	108,065	62
Ikpan	75,727	61
Kwa	105,490	73
Okpon	73,592	65
Okwo	88,773	48

Terrain Analysis

Potentially unstable or erosion prone terrain was delineated by measuring average slopes on hard copy topographic maps within forested areas. Although phenomenal gully erosion on gentle slopes

(< 10%) is occurring in some areas of Cross River State (figure 8), it is restricted to the heavily leached silt and fine sand soils on the old coastal plain which has been deforested in favour of farmland and some commercial plantations. These areas were not mapped out. On the moderately hilly to steep, gravely soils in the Oban and Obudu Hills, where the majority of existing forested areas occur, the risk of erosion is less than on the coastal plains. However, the introduction of road construction and/or mechanized timber harvesting activities, will put these areas at high risk for various types of soil disturbance because of the heavy rainfall events experienced in the area and a complete lack of



Figure 8. Gully erosion near Calabar.

organic soil horizons in most areas. For this reason a slope limit of 30% was used to map high risk areas.

Habitat Analysis

A lack of detailed understanding of habitat needs, insufficient resolution of environmental data, and a lack of sufficient funding to undertake photo interpretation, prevented fine filter analysis of habitat needs for all but two keystone species (elephant and gorilla). Habitat needs of a third keystone species, hornbills, was also assessed but maps were not prepared because of insufficient inventory information. Maps of core habitats for gorilla and elephant were produced based on observed occurrence within the last five years (from a variety of sources). Connecting corridors were also identified. Connecting habitat for gorillas was mapped based on forest cover conditions, elevation,



Figure 9. Gorilla habitat. See Appendix B for larger-scale colour gorilla habitat map.

Irvingia species. For this reason they are a keystone species in forested ecosystems where they influence the distribution and continued survival of many plant species. They are at risk because numbers are low, the population is fragmented, the gene pool is small, they have a late date of maturity and long breeding interval (slow reproduction), and they are highly susceptible to the Ebola

terrain, the juxtaposition of known groups, and proximity to human settlement.

Gorillas:

There are seven known groups of western gorilla in Cross River State and adjacent areas in the Takamanda reserve in Cameroon. Home range for these individuals varies from about 5 km² to 25 km² (all groups in CRS have home ranges from 20 to 25 km²) with perhaps up to 40 individuals in a group. They will travel up to 4 km per day but movement is limited by large rivers and roads (lack of security cover) that form barriers. These groups seem to prefer highland areas (often greater than 500m elevation) and rugged complex terrain with steep valleys. They prefer primary forest conditions but in some areas may use open forest if fruit supply is abundant and human presence is low. Gorillas are frugivorous (in Gabon 65% of the diet is fruit) but they feed on most plant parts including leaves, shoots, stalks, epiphytes, vines, bark, and berries on as many as 150 plant species (adult males can eat up to 30 kg per day). They also forage in herbaceous patches and swamps. In Okwangwo, frequently used genera include Ficus, Cola, and

virus. It was thought during the 1980s that around 1,500 gorillas existed in the Cross River Region, however, as a result of the bush meat trade, habitat destruction, and, possibly, the Ebola virus, population today is much lower at only two or three hundred.

Elephants

At one time, elephants were known to occur throughout Cross River State. Today the only recent evidence of elephant occurrence is in a small area on the eastern side of the Okwangwo Division of the national park, adjacent to the Takamanda Forest Reserve in Cameroon. There was also a reported killing of seven elephants in 1989 in the Oban Division of the park (reported in Cross River National Park – Plan For Developing The Park and its Support Zone, 1989, by the British Overseas Development Natural Resources Institute).

Elephants are highly adaptable and can survive in forest, bush, or savannah. In the Cross River area, during the dry season, they seem to have a preference for closed canopy forest conditions. They are wide ranging species however, sometimes traveling large distances in pursuit of food. They eat enormously (up to 1000 pounds of vegetation per day) and are destructive, uprooting and scattering as much as is eaten, often pushing over and breaking entire trees. Elephants eat almost anything



Figure 10. Elephant habitat. See Appendix B for larger-scale colour map of elephant habitat.

green, but green grass, shoots, and buds of trees and shrubs are preferred. Because they can have large home ranges, they physically alter the habitat they use, and they spread seeds over wide areas in their dung, we have considered them to be a keystone species.

The three main drivers of population distribution are food availability, water availability, and distance from human activity. Terrain may also play a role. In a study in southwestern Cameroon, human activity had a greater effect on elephant density than vegetation type. Several studies have shown that elephant use of habitat (both in and outside the national parks) increases with distance from

villages for up to 20 km. Use of habitat by elephants within ten kilometres of villages is dramatically reduced.

Core elephant habitat in Cross River State was mapped (figure 10) based on findings from a population survey by Obot et al (1998) in the Okwangwo Division of Cross River National Park. There was no other documentation on recent evidence of use in other areas although this does not preclude the possibility that there are elephants in these other locations. Other areas of potential elephant habitat were identified and mapped based on whether primary forest cover was available, proximity to human settlement, and terrain (principally slope). The map shows three categories of habitat: known, category two, and category three. Known habitat was derived from maps produced in the Obot study. Category two includes all areas that are forested, less than 30% average slope, and greater than 8 km from a settlement and were derived using GIS tools. Category three includes all areas that are forested, and less than 30% slope.

Hornbills

A study in adjacent Cameroon showed that hornbills might also be very important in contributing to ecological function of tropical rainforest. In Cameroon, in the Dja Forest Reserve, three species of hornbill together consume the fruit of almost 60 species of tree and liana (the black casqued hornbill, white thighed hornbill, and the piping hornbill). Two of the hornbills show a preference for building nest cavities in large trees within areas of primary forest, making the conservation of areas with large trees important. The hornbills play an elemental role in the dispersal of tree species, flying 100 miles or more when foraging for ripening fruit, and dispersing seeds for almost a quarter of the tree flora in the area through their droppings. Many of the tree species were community dominants, economically important to humans, or both. Overlap in species utilized by elephants and gorillas was low meaning that there is little ecological redundancy between disperser groups. Given the propensity of humans to extirpate large mammals from areas of primary forest, the hornbills may become increasingly important in forest regeneration as seed dispersing mammals like gorillas and elephants diminish.

Core Ecosystems Based on the analysis described above, core reserves and land use zoning and guidelines were developed for forested areas within Cross River State. Areas included in the core reserve were considered to be ecologically sensitive including: critical habitat for keystone species, regionally rare or unique features such as the cloud forest and grass lands around the Obudu Cattle Ranch, wetlands and mangrove forest, erosion or landslide prone terrain, some portions of watersheds at risk, and culturally significant sites. Their status with respect to park boundary was not necessarily considered. In addition to the core reserves, areas of representative habitat or natural connectivity were delineated as special management zones and, amongst other things, are meant to provide connecting corridors to ensure that core reserves are linked permitting genetic dispersal and energy flow (by organisms in the food chain and by water





courses). The remaining forested matrix was considered to be an integrated resource use zone. (figure 11).

MANAGEMENT GUIDELINES

MANAGEMENT INTENT AND RESOURCE USE GUIDELINES

Given that Nigeria has already lost most of its primary rainforest, it could be argued that all remaining undisturbed forest area is critical and should be delineated as core reserve. However this line of thinking ignores the historic dependency of proximal communities on forest resources as well as the inherent ecological characteristics of the area (some areas are ecologically robust and some are sensitive). Exploitation and development is occurring and will continue to occur. The intent of the support zones around the national park is to provide that very function. It is of paramount importance for the long-term maintenance of ecological functioning, however, that only the right types of use occur, in appropriate locations, at the right intensity, and for an appropriate duration. To help ensure that this occurs, this section of the plan identifies management intent and resource use guidelines for three categories of ecosystem-based land use zones: Core Ecosystems, Special Management Zones, and Integrated Resource Use Zones (table 4). The intent is to provide organizations responsible for resource use planning with a strategic framework for resource use decisions that recognizes environmental risk and provides guidance on activities that will be ecologically appropriate. It is **not** the intent of this plan to provide site level guidance on operational activities. Site level plans are based on a more careful and detailed land evaluation prior to the implementation of operations.

Table 4. Management intent by land use zone.

CORE ECOSYSTEMS	 The core ecosystem classification is intended to apply to areas that need to be protected because of their critical importance in ecosystem function. No resource development or management intervention permitted Non-consumptive recreational uses are permitted Research and environmental monitoring allowed Sustainable extraction of NTFP by adjacent forest dependant communities permitted in specified areas Regulated hunting and fishing at sustainable levels by adjacent forest dependant communities for select species in specified areas using traditional weapons only.

SPECIAL MGMT ZONES	Erosion or Landslide Prone Areas	 Any of the activities specified for Core ecosystems are permitted. Must maintain a minimum area in old forest (i.e. mature forest with characteristics of primary forest that has reached a climax state) of 75% of the gross area of the zone at all times No clear felling timber harvest regimes are permitted and retained basal area for trees must exceed 8 m² or 30% of original levels, whichever is more. A terrain stability assessment (for erosion and mass movement) must be completed before any timber harvesting or road construction In areas of low risk (based on the terrain stability assessment), road construction for timber harvesting is permitted to a standard specified in a road permit (maximum occupation by roads of the area as a percent of the gross area, maximum widths, construction and drainage standards, deactivation requirements, gating requirements, etc.) A windfirm buffer of 100m must be conserved in its original state around all fish bearing streams, lakes, wetlands, or other water bodies Regulated hunting and fishing at sustainable levels by adjacent forest dependant communities for select species in specified areas is permitted.
SPECIAL MGMT ZONES	Hydrologically Constrained Areas	 This zone represents watersheds that have been heavily altered from their natural state, especially on lower reaches. The intent is to limit further changes to hydrologic regime, promoting hydrologic recovery in disturbed areas, but allowing some further commercial resource use providing it does not further compromise ecosystem functioning. Any of the activities specified for Core ecosystems are permitted. Must maintain, within each watershed at all times, a minimum area in old forest (i.e. mature forest with characteristics of primary forest that has reached a climax state) of 50% of the gross area of the watershed, or 45% old forest plus an additional 10% or more of the area in fully stocked regenerating forest greater than 3m tall. No clear felling timber harvest regimes are permitted and retained basal area for trees must exceed 8 m² or 30% of original levels, whichever is more. Road construction for resource use is permitted to a standard specified in a road permit (in which early rehabilitation and maintenance of natural drainage patterns during construction and use is emphasized). A windfirm buffer of 100m must be conserved in its original state around all streams, lakes, wetlands, or other water bodies. Regulated hunting and fishing at sustainable levels is permitted.

		• The intent in this zone is to provide large contiguous tracts of
		unaltered forest representing the full range of ecosystems
		occurring in the plan area and to ensure that there is
		occurring in the plan area and to ensure that there is
		babitata da pat bacama isolatad, migratary routas ara pat
		interrupted, and that game dispersed continues to easur
		Depresentation is a secret filter analysis of high variable simed
		st identifying and protecting torget levels for different
SPECIAL	Areas Needed	at identifying and protecting target levels for different
SPECIAL	for	ecological communities (rather than targeting individual
	10r Depresentation	species) on the assumption that if ecological communities or
ZUNES	Representation	ecosystems remain intact and well-distributed, so too will
		populations of species that depend on these communities.
	Connectivity	Any of the activities specified for Core ecosystems are
		permitted.
		Maintain a minimum area in old forest (i.e. mature forest with
		characteristics of primary forest that has reached a climax
		state) of 75% of the gross area of the zone at all times
		No clear felling timber harvest regimes are permitted and
		retained basal area for trees must exceed 8 m ² or 30% of
		original levels, whichever is more.
		No more than 50% of the basal area of any given species
		may be harvested in a given harvest coupe (cutblock).

SPECIAL MGMT ZONES	Wetlands and Mangrove Forests	 Areas to be protected because of their critical importance in ecosystem function. No commercial resource development or management intervention permitted. Non-consumptive recreational uses permitted. Research and environmental monitoring allowed. Sustainable extraction of NTFP by adjacent forest dependant communities permitted in specified areas. Regulated hunting and fishing at sustainable levels by adjacent forest dependant communities for select species in specified areas using traditional weapons only.
INTEGRATED RESOURCE USE ZONE		 The intent in this zone is to allow integrated resource use such as commercial forestry, mining, and oil and gas exploration and development as well as smaller scale and emergent activities such as tourism, commercial recreation, fishing and aquaculture, manufacturing, "green" energy production, and non-timber forest product harvesting in accordance with EBM principles. Within this zone the consumptive use of the natural resources is maintained within limits that can be sustained over the long-term, in accordance with EBM principles. The focus of resource development within the Integrated Resource Use Zone is to enhance community stability and individual well-being, to encourage economic diversification and innovation, and to increase local employment, economic development, revenue, cultural and environmental amenities and other benefits derived from resources. It is envisioned that there will be a network of permanent roads in these areas built to an acceptable standard with some restrictions where required to address site-specific

 concerns. A minimum area in old forest (i.e. mature forest with characteristics of primary forest that has reached a climax state) of 40% of the gross area of the watershed, or 35% old
forest plus an additional 10% or more of the area in fully stocked regenerating forest greater than 3m tall, must be maintained within each watershed at all times.
 Clear felling (clearcutting) must not exceed 20% of a gross cutblock area and individual openings cannot be more than 1 ha in size. Clear felling is only permitted where the species to be regenerated are ecologically suited to post harvest conditions.
 In areas subject to partial cutting regimes, retained basal area for trees must exceed 8 m² or 30% of original levels, whichever is more.
 A windfirm buffer of 100m must be conserved in its original state around all fish bearing streams, lakes, wetlands, or other water bodies.
 Regulated hunting and fishing at sustainable levels is permitted.

RECOMMENDED MANAGEMENT PRACTICES/STRATEGIES

To help planners and resource use authorities design operations that are ecosystem-based and consistent with the landscape level management intent and guidelines outlined in the table above, some suggested practices and strategies have been provided for a range of topics including: biodiversity, riparian and aquatic ecosystems, fish and wildlife habitat, hunting and fishing, water, communities, access, tourism and recreation, non-timber forest products, and timber resources. Where these practices and strategies are specific to a particular zone, this has been indicated, otherwise they apply to all zones.

Terrestrial Biodiversity Conservation

- In partial cut timber harvest operations (selection systems), maintain the natural diversity of plant species and seral stages ensuring that the relative proportion of each species and age class will approximate natural conditions within a specified time.
- In the Integrated Resource Use zone, ensure that site level reserves are maintained on all sites (targeting 15% of gross cutblock area) and that biological legacies like animal dens, wildlife trees, dead trees, and coarse woody debris are represented post harvest.
- Protect rare ecosystems and the habitats of endangered, threatened, or rare species.
- Avoid the introduction of terrestrial exotic species.

Riparian and Aquatic Ecosystems

- Ensure that streamflow, channel characteristics, and water quality are not disrupted by resource use activities and are maintained within the range of natural variability.
- Ensure that the modification of water bodies does not eliminate or alter ecosystem types, condition, or pattern and does not prevent the persistence of habitats within them.
- Encourage forest resource users to identify, map and incorporate the protection of sensitive zones into development plans and approved operations.
- Increase the size of riparian buffers in areas of high windthrow hazard to minimize the risk of excessive blowdown.
- Maintain <10% deviation from natural riparian forest next to floodplains, fans, forested swamps, and small steep streams with distinctive microclimate.

- Mitigate and control the cumulative effects of material introduced into water sources resulting from resource uses.
- Conduct post-development monitoring to assess primary or cumulative effects of resource use on aquatic and riparian ecosystems.
- Set back roads from riparian areas or utilize alternative methods of harvesting to avoid building roads.
- Avoid building roads immediately above or adjacent to sensitive spawning or rearing areas.
- Provide greater riparian setback for areas which are prone to high natural erosion.
- Ensure that water pollutants are below levels that affect people or the ecosystem except where naturally induced contaminants are at levels above this.
- Avoid creating storage dams and out-of-stream diversions and/or operate so that in-stream flows remain within the natural range of variability.
- Avoid channelling and dikes except where the effect of prior development requires intervention to bring the flow within background range or where lives and valuable property necessitates intervention.
- Develop, implement, and ensure adequate government funding for appropriate water quality monitoring program.

Fish and Wildlife Habitat

- Identify and reserve key wildlife migration/movement corridors and known critical wildlife habitat features such as nesting and denning sites, feeding sites, and breeding habitats.
- Maintain sufficient undeveloped habitat (forage areas, security cover, resting habitat, breeding habitat, etc) to ensure population levels within the natural range of variability.
- Incorporate fish and fish habitat protection measures in community level planning.
- Avoid the introduction of alien species.
- Ensure consultation with local communities and consider local and traditional knowledge in managing fish and wildlife habitat.
- If a previously unidentified critical wildlife habitat feature is discovered during development, incorporate their management and protection.
- Minimize road induced displacement and mortality risk within or adjacent to critical habitats. This could include daily gating requirements for forest harvest roads and/or road deactivation following harvest.
- Avoid herbicide or pesticide use in areas containing critical wildlife habitat features.
- Minimize the impacts of commercial and non-commercial wildlife viewing, ensuring that user days are allocated in an equitable way.

Hunting and Fishing

- Forest resource use and management must not negatively impact fish and wildlife populations.
- The carrying capacity of forested areas and aquatic systems for umbrella and keystone species traditionally used by communities must be determined. This will include estimates of current populations/stock levels as well as estimates of fishing and hunting levels, using both modern inventory techniques and traditional knowledge.
- Maintain fish harvesting within the carrying capacity of the ecosystem and catch rates within the rate of renewal of the species of concern.
- Avoid the use of fish traps and pond evacuation techniques that result in indiscriminate catches leading to destruction of fish stocks.
- Do not use toxic chemicals to catch fish.
- Establish and maintain precautionary allocations for fish and wildlife use in consideration of the traditional needs of local communities for food, social, and ceremonial requirements.
- Ensure that local communities are involved in tenuring, permitting, and planning of fishing and hunting.

- Sustainable harvest practices must be encouraged through education programs and adoption of more environmentally friendly resource use practices and technologies.
- Control access on roads where hunting activity could compromise wildlife populations, in consultation with local communities.
- Ensure that adequate resources are made available to monitor hunting, trapping and fishing activities and to enforce legislation.
- Support local economic development and education initiatives that encourage the supply of alternative sources of protein (rather than bushmeat).²

Water

- Maintain forest cover within watersheds within the natural range of variation to avoid excessive peak flows and flooding damage.
- Maintain natural water quality for drinking water, fish and aquatic ecosystems, and recreational use.
- Surface water use should be authorized through a licence as defined in legislation.
- Improve water conservation through wise use, innovative technology, education, and water conservation programs.
- Water use applications for diversion, storage or use of water must minimize or avoid impacts to downstream users, riparian zones, aquatic ecosystems, and recreation.
- Apply management practices to land development activities to minimize or avoid impacts to water quality, quantity and timing of flows.
- Applications for development or uses on unstable slopes or within riparian areas should be accompanied by an assessment of terrain stability/erosion potential.
- Minimize and/or avoid the use of pesticides.
- Determine in-stream flow requirements for fish and fish habitat to establish water use limits for prospective water users.
- Manage the diversion, use and storage of water to maintain adequate in-stream flows for aquatic and riparian ecosystems.
- Maintain fish passage around new dams or any other waterworks (e.g. culverts on stream crossings on roads).
- To restore aquatic ecosystems, remove man-made obstructions, such as old dams, where possible, in an environmentally sensitive manner.
- Remove obstructions to increase aquatic habitat where appropriate.

Communities

- Build stable, resilient, well-serviced, and peaceful communities.
- Consult local communities in priorizing, designing, and implementing local resource use plans.
- Support local community research into cultural use of plants and trees.
- Develop a comprehensive research strategy to determine the state of terrestrial resources used by local communities for medicinal, food or social/ceremonial purposes.
- Undertake an educational needs assessment regarding knowledge of sustainable forest use and practices in forest dependant communities.
- Develop partnerships for educational programs between communities, public sector institutions, and developers.

² Although bushmeat and poverty are linked, increased economic welfare does not necessarily mean reduced consumption unless there is a supply of alternate sources of protein and people develop a taste for these substitutes.

- Ensure that educational programs include local history and culture to foster cross-cultural respect and understanding.
- Undertake a needs assessment to determine health services required for local communities.
- Provide access to traditional food and medicinal botanical sources.
- Help people develop the skills and opportunity to earn sufficient income to meet or exceed their basic needs.
- Provide support for current and future needs to existing businesses including resource manufacturing and processing facilities, that maximize benefits to communities in a sustainable way.
- Develop a diversified marketing program for forest resources that includes strategies and resources for implementation.
- Identify and plan for social, cultural, and volunteer programs that strengthen the community and region.
- Develop ways to return a portion of revenue collected from forest land to the local community and local governments.
- A percentage of tenures and licenses should be made available to local communities and governments for economic development.
- Develop effective public input process with balanced levels of representation from local communities, local governments, and other stakeholders.
- Identify long-term strategic needs for settlement sites.
- Identify environmentally appropriate settlement areas.
- Create a strong and diverse mix of businesses within communities.
- Create a strong and diverse mix of non-profit and voluntary organizations and a vibrant set of traditional, cultural, and non-market activities within communities.
- Ensure a fair distribution of benefits, costs, and risks across all parts of the area.

Access Management

- Establish local access management committees in forest dependant communities and prepare an access management plan prior to developing access into a forested area.
- In consultation with local communities and user groups, identify and evaluate environmental, recreational, and cultural heritage values that can be affected by development of roads and associated facilities.
- Ensure that development and use of current and planned access, including construction, maintenance, and deactivation activities, does not compromise environmental, recreational, and cultural heritage values.
- In cases where environmental, recreational, and cultural heritage values could potentially be compromised, ensure that adequate assessments are conducted and standards prepared and incorporated in a road permit.
- Control access where hunting or trapping are a concern to wildlife populations or in order to protect community assets or cultural values. This could include special gating requirements, early road deactivation, and/or patrolling roads.
- Ensure roads are adequately maintained to provide safe passage and to avoid road failures and associated environmental impacts.

Tourism and Recreation

- Where recreation or tourism values have been identified, develop comprehensive, strategic regional plans for sustainable tourism and recreation including direction on management, monitoring, enforcement, and conflict resolution.
- Consult with local communities prior to developing new tourism or recreation opportunities.

- Endeavor to create partnerships amongst government, developers, communities, and other stakeholders to assist in the monitoring, enforcement, management, and preservation of recreational values.
- Ensure that tourism and recreation development minimizes impacts to cultural and ecological values.
- Before approving new sites for wildlife viewing, determine potential area-wide impact on the subject species including potential habitat isolation, disruption of migration or travel corridors, impact on social behaviour and reproduction, and exposure to human born diseases or vice versa.
- Determine acceptable numbers of recreationists or tourists at recreation or tourist attractions based on ecological carrying capacity and public safety.

Non-Timber Forest Products

- Legislation and policy for a sustainable non-timber forest products industry should be developed.
- Options should be explored for the regulation of non-timber forest product harvesting to ensure sustainability.
- Promote the development of information systems, including inventories, for non-timber forest products (including maps).
- Sustainable harvesting of NTFPs by local communities should be maintained on all traditional use areas.
- A NTFP research program should be established and should include the cultivation of NTFPs.
- Create an educational awareness program for non-timber forest products.
- Conduct market research for non-timber forest products.

Timber

- Maintain a sustainable annual harvest and operationally feasible timber supply over the short and long term in a manner that is consistent with the principles of EBM and does not compromise ecosystem functionality.
- Conduct periodic timber supply reviews.
- Develop forest tenures and timber allocations based on the EBM zoning map and sustainable cut levels.
- Accommodate new tenure and existing holders in a fair and equitable manner.
- Ensure that local community issues and roles are addressed in forestry tenuring and allocation, permitting, policy and planning processes.
- Promote timely establishment of area based community forest tenures that are representative of a land base that will contribute to the long term economic and human well-being of local forest dependant people.
- Encourage the sorting, processing and marketing of forest products to extract the highest value from the forest resources.
- Encourage viable, diversified and profitable businesses in the timber and non-timber sectors.
- Review and adjust as necessary, timber harvesting utilization standards to enhance economic viability of EBM forestry operations while maintaining the full range of economic opportunities for future generations.
- Encourage diverse and innovative forest products that increase the employment, economic development, revenue, cultural and environmental amenities, and other benefits derived from forest resources.
- Ensure that the full cost of implementing EBM is adequately considered when timber harvesting fees and royalties are paid.
- Create incentive programs to encourage investment and innovations by the forest industry.

- Ensure that sufficient funding is allocated to reforest and manage areas in which harvesting has occurred.
- Ensure that reforestation involves a mix of ecologically appropriate tree species that reflects natural forest conditions.
- Enhance timber production through silviculture and management practices that increase stand yields and values.
- Allocate appropriate funding to effectively address research needs for implementation of EBM.
- Conserve soil productivity and maintain slope failures within natural rates.

IMPLEMENTATION AND MONITORING

EBM planning should engage people (local governments, senior governments, resource users, tenure holders, local communities, and local people) as necessary at all scales in a collaborative manner. Although ecosystem-based management is not a regulated requirement, it is foreseen that it would be implemented by all relevant government agencies in their own management activities and local strategic planning (e.g. land use plans and forest management plans), and also incorporated by them in any resource development permits or land or natural resource dispositions. Development plans and permits would need to be consistent with the zoning guidelines and principles and strategies outlined in this document. Conflict with existing plans or zoning, would need to be evaluated on a case-by-case basis to identify opportunities for modification that better reflect the principles of ecosystem-based planning.³ Conversely, resource management zone guidelines and strategies in this plan will need to be amended in the future in accordance with the principles of adaptive management.

An often used approach in implementing broad use planning is to establish a coordinating body comprised of representatives from various stakeholder groups. This might include an overarching policy committee for the state with subordinate local resource use committees responsible for local implementation. The terms of reference for both these groups must be carefully designed, incorporating the principles of good governance, to ensure that self interest and single purpose conservation or development motives don't undermine the broader goals of environmental function and community well-being. With time, these groups would develop state policy and local procedures that foster and support collaboration amongst user groups, research, training, monitoring, and the use of best management practices.

A critical component of effective implementation of ecosystem-based management will be adequate training for those responsible for implementation. This will include a spectrum of topics from understanding ecosystems and their importance, to systems for good governance, and will be most effective if local communities, public agencies, and private organizations can be engaged in a partnership for the design and delivery of such programming.

Most modern land use plans will also have a monitoring requirement. Monitoring involves developing a program to determine:

- whether planning requirements are being implemented;
- whether implementation is achieving objectives; and

³ For example, areas that are outside of Core reserves but still within the national park would still be treated as reserves subject to the constraints outlined in the development plan for the park (1989 - Developing the Park and its Support Zone – Oban Division report) in which different levels of allowable activity are identified for recuperation, public use, special use, intensive use, and traditional use areas.

• whether underlying assumptions and data used to design the program are valid.

A monitoring program would include:

- a collaboratively designed monitoring protocol;
- a series of indicators to be used to measure the degree to which objectives are being met;
- well defined roles and responsibilities for coordination, analysis, and reporting; and
- a communication protocol for sharing results of the evaluation and analyses.

While monitoring often requires quantitative measurements, it also can involve tracking less tangible indicators such as degree of satisfaction. Human well-being indicators in particular, need to go beyond simple measures of economic performance such as revenue or income, and the costs and benefits of economic development need to include long term social and ecosystem restoration/reparation impacts.

KNOWLEDGE GAPS AND FUTURE WORK

There are many gaps in knowledge and capacity to deliver natural resource management programs in Cross River State. New information that contributes to our understanding of how critical forest ecosystems can be maintained while meeting local social, cultural and economic requirements is of paramount importance. Some suggestions that would help inform public decision-making on conservation and development issues have been provided below. Suggestions fall into two broad categories: a) Scientific/technical and b) Socio-Economic information.

SCIENTIFIC/TECHNICAL

Resource use decisions must be based on sound science if they are to be sustainable. Too often donor groups and politicians want a quick fix without having the knowledge or data necessary to support their decisions. As a result, programs are not effective in either the short or long term. There is a reluctance to invest in data acquisition when there is no immediate gratification. Relatively little is known about many apparently sensitive ecosystems and their inhabitants. A great deal more research is needed in a number of areas. Some of the most important immediate requirements are listed below:

- 1. A detailed forest resource inventory is required which includes photo interpretation of forest cover. Because EBM seeks to incorporate the best of existing information including traditional, local, technical, and scientific knowledge, it is also advisable to review opportunities to integrate traditional ecological knowledge either during the inventory work or in a separate process. The inventory should be more detailed and available sooner in areas with near term potential for development. Outputs from such an inventory would include site level inventory polygons by species or genera group and, within each polygon, tree heights, diameter, volumes, stand structure, stocking class, and age class, NTFP occurrence and relative abundance, and soil and terrain conditions including an estimate of site productivity. This inventory could be based on existing aerial photography and plot data as well as new plot data in areas with poor information. It is suggested that an attempt be made to train experienced forest enumerators from within Cross River State to undertake the photo interpretation. Finally, because past experience in Cross River State has not always been very positive with respect to data archiving and subsequent use, a way must be found to go beyond conventional databases and maps so that such information can be effectively shared and used by a spectrum of users (eq. web based sharing).
- 2. A more comprehensive attempt at soliciting expert opinion on habitat requirements and biology of key focal species should be conducted. This would include identifying the best focal species candidates as well as acquiring relevant literature.

- 3. A habitat assessment, using the completed forest inventory described above for the focal species described above should be completed.
- 4. Much better information is needed on the silvics of indigenous tree species and their cultivation and establishment (including optimum stock types). This type of initiative is a long term endeavour but could be started with a literature review of the species of key economic, cultural, or habitat value based on the inventory described above, and would also include interviews with local and international experts.
- 5. Although some non-timber forest products research is being conducted (e.g. rattan and afang) little is known about the silvics of most species, the degree to which they can sustain exploitation, or potential for cultivation. In addition to fulfilling many needs within the community, some of these species may have significant commercial potential. For example, it is estimated that the sales value of Prunus africana (stinkwood), which occurs in the Okwangwo Division and is an important source for a drug used in the treatment of prostate cancer, is \$150 to \$220 million US per year. In the past Cameroon supplied up to 25% of the world demand for Prunus africana but over exploitation has led to declining supplies. This example underscores the need for much better information on these important forest resources.
- 6. More research is required on ecologically appropriate silviculture systems for the tropical high forests of Cross River. This would include a retrospective analysis of regeneration success in both clear felling and partial felling systems and such things as natural pre-harvest stocking of focal species (i.e. species that represent a broader group of species), post harvest stocking including regeneration delay, species mix, and growth rates as they relate to site conditions and harvest regime, and the effect of fill planting. It is likely that long term growth and yield monitoring plots will also need to be established.
- 7. Stocking standards for selection systems and clear felling systems need to be developed including number of desirable stems/ha, intertree spacing, acceptability criteria for naturals, fill planting requirements, and vegetation competition rules.
- 8. More effort is required to reforest areas that have been degraded and are not being used for agriculture. Because this activity does not generate short term income, donor support will be required.
- 9. Targets and indicators for sustainable forest management need to be developed and a monitoring program formulated and implemented.
- 10. It is extremely important that a successful ecosystem-based management project be initiated and nurtured as a source of inspiration for other communities and as a model that can be improved and used for experimentation and adaptive management. This type of project would need to be in a relatively small area that is ecologically robust, involving only one or two communities, with natural resources that provide a reasonable opportunity for economic development, and with community leaders that have vision and a history of good governance. The objective would be to develop a model forest that will be used to test and develop sustainable forest management regulations, plans, data management systems, and operational practices providing a range of services and products to the local population as well as markets further afield. It would require significant long term donor support but would eventually lead to a self sustaining unit.

SOCIO-ECONOMIC

 Information and adaptive management are only useful if the people that need it receive and understand it. It is critically important that the kinds of research and results described above be extended to other groups grappling with similar issues. A substantial extension and training program is envisioned, likely delivered in a collaborative way by existing institutions, foreign consultants, NGOs and communities. The target audience for this type of training would include government personnel responsible for forest management regulation, private sector and civil society personnel involved in resource use, and community groups and individuals like the forest management committees in affected communities. A spectrum of extension tools and techniques would be required because of the range of skills and interests of the target audience. The starting point for such a program would be teaching the principles of ecosystem-based management and fostering environmental awareness to change attitudes about both the environmental and commercial value of timber, NTFPs and fish and wildlife resources. The program would likely be most effective if a single coordinating agency such as a University was responsible for development and delivery with help from other stakeholders and support from donor agencies.

- 2. It was suggested that a different coordinating agency be formed to facilitate the design and delivery of ecosystem-based planning in the state. This would need to be an inter-agency management committee. It is suggested that a first step would be to explore the interest in such a group and develop potential terms of reference.
- 3. Another requirement will be to develop ways to integrate modern federal and state legislation and policy with customary or traditional law and political structure. This would include adequate land tenure reforms and mechanisms that would help change the culture of open access to land by virtue of clearing it.
- 4. Controlling illegal resource exploitation such as logging without permits and the bushmeat trade are often raised issues. Recommendations have recently been made for state level intervention and enforcement. However, in keeping with the principles of ecosystem-based management, further thought must be given to engaging and empowering local communities and institutions to undertake this work. Part of the solution will necessarily involve ensuring that communities understand the link between their own welfare and environmental function; however, poverty can narrow ones vision and elicit extreme behaviour, so extending microcredit and infrastructure funding to some villagers or village institutions in exchange for cooperation with resource management authorities is of paramount importance, as is improving income generation.
- 5. Ways must also be developed to secure women's involvement in the formulation, planning, and execution of policy and to incorporate women's views, interests, and needs into resource management.
- 6. Finally, an important barrier to implementing many potential economic opportunities at the community level is lack of access to, and understanding of, both domestic and international markets. Substantial effort will be needed to change this. While there have been a number of market studies within Cross River State, they have largely been about timber or agriculture products and most are out of date. An unfortunate aspect of marketing, is that continual change in market forces means mechanisms for acquiring ongoing market intelligence must be developed. An initial step will be to undertake market research focussing on domestic and cross border markets for timber and non-timber forest products and eco-tourism. A second step would be to evaluate the potential for similar sales in Europe and the third step would be to develop mechanisms, such as a marketing cooperative, for gathering market intelligence over the long term.

BENEFITS OF THE PLAN

Ecosystem based management contemplates significant change to planning and practices associated with forest development. It relies on a high degree of cooperation among managers and proponents, ongoing learning and the methodical application of knowledge, data and science. EBM is a process that is implemented in stages as capacity and knowledge increases through an adaptive management approach. Applying the zoning, principles, practices, and strategies in this report will help natural

resource planners, conservationists, and developers ensure the forests of Cross River State continue to provide the goods and environmental services needed to sustain the people of the area in perpetuity.

As a result of this project a number of potentially useful planning tools have been provided:

- The report outlining: physical features of the area (ecology, climate, soils, geology, water resources, vegetation patterns, etc), the link between human well-being and the environment, EBM Principles and planning steps, data and mapping products available for EBM planning in Cross River State, analysis undertaken, analysis results (map preparation, analysis of water resources, terrain analysis, habitat analysis, and delineation of core ecosystems), management zones and resource use guidelines in each, recommended management practices and strategies, recommendations on implementation and monitoring, knowledge gaps and priorities for future work.
- Maps and associated ArcView files including: a base map, a watershed hydrology map, a terrain map, and maps of elephant and gorilla habitat).
- A powerpoint presentation summarizing key aspects of the ecosystem-based management plan.
- An annotated outline of inventory and database products available.
- An annotated bibliography.
- Orthophotos for the entire state (acquired from other sources).
- Digital photographs of environmental conditions in some areas of the state.

Key benefits of the project include:

- A regional framework that guides resource use planning and informs development and conservation decisions is now available to organizations involved in forest resource use.
- Available data and information gaps have been elucidated making it easier for stakeholders to identify priorities for future work.
- The guidelines will serve as a template for others hoping to undertake this type of analysis elsewhere.

It is hoped that, at the very least, the project will stimulate the interests of others, elicit dialogue among stakeholders, and encourage collaboration among the many groups using the forest resources of Cross River State.

APPENDIX A: PARTIALLY ANNOTATED BIBLIOGRAPHY

Adeniyi.O. Applied Poverty In Environment Indicators: The case of Nigeria (Foundation of Environmental Development and Education in Nigeria (FEDEN), Lagos, Poverty in-Environment Maps, Rate of Deforestation, pp.13 and 18 Submitted to The Environmental Department, World Bank, Washington, D.C March, 2002.

African Elephant Specialist Group Meeting, 17-22 November 1992. Victoria Falls, Zimbabwe. "Working Group Discussion Three. Elephant Habitat Working Group." Pachyderm No. 18, 1994.

African Elephant. African Hunter Vol.5 No.2 April, 1999. http://www.cybertorpedo.com/africanhunter/factfiles/elephant.htm

African Wildlife Foundation. Elephant. www.awf.org/wildlives/71

Alexander, Donna M, Effa Ogar, and Ibor Otu I. A Survey on *Irvingia gabonensis* in Cross River State ,Nigeria"(local storage method of bush mango) at a Pre-germplasm collection meeting organised by ICARF, Nairobi, Kenya held at IITA Ibadan, Nigeria May, 1994.

Allison, Steven D. and Peter M. Vitousek. Extracellular Enzyme Activities and Carbon Chemistry as Drivers of Tropical Plant Litter Decomposition. *(Abstract)*

Ambrose-Oji, Banca. Forest Livelihoods: Implications for biodiversity conservation, Analysis of the MCP/ GEF Socio-Economic Survey Data for the West Coast and Bomana Corridor Area. Survey Consultancy final repot, Limbe August 1997.

Anantha Kumar,D., Poverty and the Environment" A Role for United Nations Environmental Program . International Institute for sustainable Development concept paper written for UNEP in preparation of guidelines on Poverty and the Environment. October,2001.

Arikpo, Arikpo, Betiang, Liwhu. Ayakoroma, Barclays. Our Future and other plays: Plays from Living Earth Nigeria Foundation's Community Theatre Initiative – Cross River Programme. Living Earth Nigeria Foundation, 2000.

Arkive – Images of Life on Earth. 2005. African Elephant (*Loxodonta africana*) http://www.arkive.org/species/GES/mammals/Loxodonta_africana/more_info.html#Range

Arnold, M., G. Kohlin, R. Persson, G. Shepherd. 2003. Fuelwood Revisited: What has changed in the last decade? Centre for International Forestry Research. Occasional Paper 39. Jakarta Indonesia, ISSN 0854-9818.

Bawa, Kamaljit S., et al. Beyond Paradise---Meeting the Challenges in Tropical Biology in the 21st Century. *(Abstract).*

Beak Consultants Limited. Geomatics International Inc. Geomatics Nigeria Limited. Forest Resources Study: Nigeria, Cross River State Revised Forest Management Plan. Prepared for FORMECU, Federal Department of Forestry, Nigeria. Funded by the African Development Bank. June 28, 1999.

Beak Consultants Limited. Geomatics International Inc. Geomatics Nigeria Limited. Forest Resources Study: Nigeria, Niger State Forest Management Plan. Prepared for FORMECU, Federal Department of Forestry, Nigeria. Funded by the African Development Bank. June 28, 1999

Bekhuis, Patricia D. B. M. and Herbert H. T. Prins. 2003. Forest elephant density and distribution in the southern part of Campo Ma'an National Park, Cameroon. Pachyderm No. 35, July-December 2003.

Ben-Shahar, Raphael. 1999. Elephants and their Woodland Habitats in Northern Botswana. Pachyderm No. 27, January-December 1999.

Berggorilla & Regenwald Direkthilfe. 2005. Cross River Gorillas. <u>http://www.berggorilla.de/english/gjournal/crossr.html</u>

Bermejo, M. 2004. Home-Range Use and Intergroup Encounters in Western Gorillas (*Gorilla g. gorilla*) at Lossi Forest, North Congo. American Journal of Primatology 64, pp. 223-232 (2004).

Blanc, J. J., et al. 2002. African Elephant Status Report 2002. An update from the African Elephant Database. Occasional Paper of the IUCN Species Survival Commission No. 29. The IUCN Species Survival Commission.

Blom, Allard, et al. 2004. Human impact on wildlife populations within a protected Central African forest. African Journal of Ecology Volume 42 Issue 1 Page 23 – March 2004.

Bushmeat Crisis Task Force. 2002. African Elephants and the Bushmeat Trade BCTF Fact Sheet - May, 2002.

Bushmeat Crisis Task Force. 2000. Eco-Economics BCTF Fact Sheet - April, 2000.

Carter E. J., Limbe Botanical Garden and Rainforest Genetic Conservation Project Socio- Economic and Institutional study report, Nov, 1992.

Cipolletta, Chloé. 2004. Effects of Group Dynamics and Diet on the Ranging Patterns of a Western Gorilla Group (*Gorilla gorilla gorilla*) at Bai Hokou, Central African Republic. American Journal of Primatology 64, pp. 193-205 (2004).

Comiskey, James A., Sunderland, Terry C.H. and Sunderland-Groves, Jacqueline L. ed. Takamanda: the Biodiversity of an African Rainforest. Smithsonian Institution Biodiversity Program. SI/MAB Series #8. 2003

Cross River State Community Forestry Project. Single Tree Permit Guidelines: The Correct Process of Felling and Selling Trees in Cross River State Community Forests. Cross River State Forestry Commission. Amended edition, 2002.

Cross River State Community Forestry Project/Community Forestry Support Unit. Community Forest Management Plan for Etara and Ekuri Eyeyeng. Prepared by The Communities of Etara and Ekuri Eyeyeng, Etung L.G.A.. July 2002

Cross River State Forestry Project (ODA Assisted). Cross River State Forestry Strategic Management Plan: Reconnaissance Inventory of High Forests and Swamp Forest Areas in Cross River State, Nigeria. Working Paper Number 1. Forestry Department Headquarters, Calabar. May

1994. 130 2 ha TSPs were established outside the National Park (sample intensity = 1 plot per 20 km2 – 0.1%). 118 in HF and 12 in Swamp Forest. All trees greater than 10 cm and NTFPs were sampled. Statistically valid stem number estimates, valid at the tariff group one level, were made. A variety of boundaries (state, LGAs, forest reserves, park, support zone, vegetation types and areas of erosion risk) were digitized using Idrisi. Tariff classes described in the report. Erosion risk was >6⁰ based on a slope/erosion risk map from 1979 areas listed in appendix 2. Growth rates stated in section 3 including diameter and volume increment and AAC by region is provided in appendices

De Villiers, P.A., O.B. Kok. 1997 Home range, association and related aspects of elephants in the eastern Transvaal Lowveld. African Journal of Ecology, Spetember 1997, vol. 35, no. 3, pp. 224-236(13).

Doran-Sheehy, Diane M. et al. 2004. Impact of Ecological and Social Factors on Ranging in Western Gorillas. American Journal of Primatology 64. pp. 207-222. (2004).

Eniang, Edem A. 2001. Bushmeat Trade and Primate Conservation around Cross River Park. Gorilla Journal 23, December 2001.

Eniang, Edem A. 2001. The Role of the Cross River National Park in Gorilla Conservation. Gorilla Journal 22, June 2001.

Environmental Resources Management/ Scott Wilson Kirkpatrick & Co Ltd. Department for International Development Cross River State Community Forestry Project: 2001 Non- Timber Forest Products Advisor September, 2001.

Environmental Resources Management/ Scott Wilson Kirkpatrick & Co Ltd. Department for International Development Cross River State Community Forestry Project: Forest Exploitation Adviser Report August, 2001.

Environmental Resources Management/ Scott Wilson Kirkpatrick & Co Ltd. Department for International Development Cross River State Community Forestry Project: Rapid Appraisal of Forest Resources from Remotely sensed Data- Presentations report. October, 2002.

Environmental Resources Management/ Scott Wilson Kirkpatrick & Co Ltd. Department for International Development Cross River State Community Forestry Project: 2002 Training Workshop in Rattan Harvesting, Processing and Transformation. September, 2002.

Environmental Resources Management/ Scott Wilson Kirkpatrick & Co Ltd. Department for International Development Cross River State Community Forestry Project: Vegetation Map Update-Accompanying notes October, 2002.

Estes, Richard. The Safari Companion. Rodale Press. Emmaus, PA. 1992

FAO. 2003. Experience of implementing National Forestry Programmes in Nigeria. On the NFP disk (see below) d:sites\nfp_en\faodocs\AC918E00-1.htm.

Federal Ministry of Agriculture, Water, Resources and Rural Development. Agricultural Policy for Nigeria: Forestry Sub-Sector - Strategies for Implementation. Lagos. December, 1988.

Foahaom,B (on Cameroon CD – see below), Prepared for an International Workshop on Integration of Biodiversity in National Forestry Planning Program Cameroon case study. Indonesia, 13-16 August, 2001

Forest Management, Evaluation and Coordination Unit, Abuja, Nigeria. Environmental Assessment: Forest Reserve Management Component - Taylor Creek Forest Reserve final draft. February, 1994.

Forestry Development Department Cross River State. A Strategy for Sustainable Development, Conservation & Management of the Forests of Cross River State Nigeria. November 1994.

Forestry Development Department Cross River State/The Overseas Development Administration, UK. Cross River State Forestry Project: Technical Report, Overview of a Planning Process for Sustainable Management of The Forests of Cross River State, Nigeria November 1994.

FOREST MANAGEMENT BYELAWS FOR ABO INLAND COMMUNITIES From Okuni, Bashua, Etara/Ekuri-Eyeyeng, Gabu, Okorshie, Owai These byelaws were set down by the communities in pursuant to the Constitution of Forest Management Committees in Cross River State, Nigeria - 2001: Article II, (iii), (m).

Geomatics Nigeria (see Beak Consultants above), FORMECU, Federal Department of Forestry, Nigeria. Cross River State Revised Forest Management Plan. June 28, 1999.

Geomatics International. Nigeria FIS: Forest Information System.

Geomatics International. Overview of the Land Use and Vegetation Change Analysis Study for Nigeria Between 1976 and 1995. Prepared for the workshop on Land use and Vegetation Change in Nigeria, 14 May 1997, Abuja, Nigeria.

Geospatial International Inc. West African Centre of Excellence in Geomatics – Summary of Feasibility Study. June, 2001.

GIS Development. 1995. Evaluation of Asian Elephant Habitat. http://www.gisdevelopment.net/aars/acrs/1995/ts1/ts1005b.shtml

Groves, Jacqueline. 2002. Good News for the Cross River Gorillas? Gorilla Journal 24, June 2002.

Hall, J.B. Ecological islands in South –Eastern Nigeria. Division of Forestry University of Dar-es-Salaam, Morogoro, Tanzania 1981 Blackwell scientific publications.

Hall, John B. Medler, Jane A. The Botanical Exploration Of The Obudu Plateau Area 1975, VOL.XL N0.3.

Hall John B., Medler Jane A. Highland vegetation in South- Eastern Nigeria and it's affinities. Vegetation vol.29, 3., 191-198. 1975.

Hatfield, Larry D. 1998. Hornbills Seen as Rainforest Savior, The San Francisco Examiner.

Hoare, Richard E. 2000. Effects of habitat on visibility of elephants during aerial census. Pachyderm No. 29, July-December 2000.

Holland, M.D., RKG Allen, D Barton, and ST Murphy. 1989. Land Evaluation and Agricultural Recommendations for CR National Park, Oban Division, Overseas Development Natural Resources Institute. Chatham Kent, UK. Soil survey and land evaluation of 2000 km² surrounding the park. Document covers geology, topog, water resources, climate, vegetation, soil resources, human activities in the area, development options, and recommendations for implementation. Soils derived from ancient acidic gneises. Nutrient deficient, acidic, gravelly, low clay, low cation exchange capacity. Conservation of organic matter extremely important. Mountains = 16% of the area. Expected pop by 2000 was 54,800. Three 1:125,000 scale maps accompany the report: topography, land use, and land units. Topographic info includes contour intervals at 150 ft. and shows rivers, towns, roads, contours. Land use: For the support zone around the park it shows lowland plains (75% < 8%), dissected plains (80% < 25%), hills (mod steep to steep for up to 100m), mountains (strongly dissected and incised, steep to v. steep for 100 to 700m). An accompanying report describes plans for developing the park and its support zones including socio-economic issues and incentive structures (see page 91 for environmental impacts of the park).

The Humane Society of the United States. 2005. Bushmeat. <u>http://www.hsus.org/wildlife/issues_facing_wildlife/wildlife_trade/</u>

Industry and Energy Operations, West Central Africa Department, Africa Region (Report by Fouillard et al). Defining an environmental Development Strategy for the Niger Delta. Volume II Annexes. May 30, 1995.

Ita, E.O. National Institute for Freshwater Fisheries Research. 1993. Inland Fishery Resources of Nigeria. <u>CIFA Occasional Paper</u> No 20. Rome, FAO. 1993.

Ite, Uwem E. Global thinking and local action (agriculture, tropical forest loss and conservation in Southeast Nigeria) Department of Geography, Lancaster University, UK S 589.76 NG 184, 2001.

Ite, Uwem E. The Challenge and Imperatives of Conservation-With Development in Cross River National Park, Nigeria. Department of Geography, Lancaster University, UK.

ITTO and ITC. 2002. Tropical Timber Products: Development of further processing in ITTO producer countries. 152p. ISBN 92-9137-204-8.

A comprehensive look at market trends and producer trends in terms of wood product supply, demand, as well as technological considerations.

ITTO. 2003. A series of guides on the following topics. Mangroves – Forests Worth Their Salt. Restoring the Forests – Guidelines for the Restoration, Management, and Rehabilitation of Degraded and Secondary Tropical Forests. ATO/ITTO Principles, Criteria, and Indicators for the Sustainable Management of African Natural Tropical Forests. A Meeting of Minds – Thoughts on Transboundary Conservation. Not by Thoughts Alone – The need for Biodiversity and Totally Protected Areas. International Organization Centre, Yokohama Japan. www.ito.or.jp.

Keay, R.W.J. A Botanical study of Obdudu Plateau and Sunkwala Mountains pp. 106-119,1979.

Kirit,S.P. Poverty and Environment Turning the Poor into Agents of Environmental Regeneration Working paper series, Social Development and Poverty Elimination Division.UNDP assisted October 1998.

Ladipo, D.O. Federal Ministry of Environment - Proceedings of Zonal Workshops held on Biodiversity Conservation in Nigeria. Based on Consultancy Reports on Zonal Participatory Rural Appraisal (PRA)

Studies and Workshops Held in Four Eco-graphic Zones (SE, SW, NW and NE) by PRA Consultants-Nigeria. A UNDP assisted Project. 2002.

Living Earth Nigeria Foundation. Forest Inventory Training. 2000.

Living Earth Nigeria Foundation. Progress Report on Projects (July-December 1999). Submitted to National Planning Commission, Abuja. February 2000.

Living Earth Nigeria Foundation. Strategy Paper: 2001-2005.

Lowe, R. 2004. VOLUME INCREMENT OF NATURAL TROPICAL MOIST FOREST IN NIGERIA - A preliminary account of the High Forest Monitoring Plots Project. Federal Department of Forestry, Ibadan. Preliminary estimates were made of volume increments and sustained timber yields for localities sampled within five high forest reserves in different climatic/geographic regions of Nigeria. The field teams established 96 permanent sample plots, each measuring one hectare, measuring all trees greater than 5 cm dbh. In drier high forests at Omo (Ogun State) and Owan North Forest (Bendel State) Reserves, successive estimates for standing bole volumes gave mean annual increments of about 5.0 \pm 0.5 cu m/ha; and in wetter high forest at Sapoba Reserve (Bendel State), 6.5 ±1.3 cu m/ha (less than half this for merchantable volumes). In humid forest at Oban Group Reserve in the south-east of the country (near Oban town and Ojor), the mean annual increment was 4.2 ±1.0 cu m/ha. In the drier high forests, species utilisable for timber (utility classes 1 to 5) accounted for about half of total increment, and veneer quality species (classes 1 & 2) for about a guarter. In the moister forest at Sapoba, the corresponding proportions were two-thirds and one third; and at Oban a guarter and an eighth respectively. The areas sampled had nearly all been exploited previously, although the forests in Owan North and in Oban Group were less disturbed. Standing bole volumes in the plots ranged from 110 to 340 cu m/ha and standing basal areas from 16 to 37 m²/ha. For undisturbed primary forests, it is probable that average standing bole volumes ranged between 200 and 400 cu m/ha, and Dawkins (1958) gives the pantropical mean for standing basal area as 35 m²/ha, to which Nigerian forests appeared to conform. In the present study, standing basal areas ranged from 16 m²/ha to 37 m²/ha, and averaged about 27.5 m²/ha. It seems that reducing standing basal area (or volume) enhances the increment of the remaining trees (no correlation between standing volume and mai). Results suggest that the forests can withstand removals equivalent to 30 to 50 cu m/ha (37.5) of standing bole volume on a 25 year felling cycle, without serious deterioration in the quality of the forest, though the relative proportions of species may change.

Macqueen, D., M Grioeg-Gran, and H Baumuller. 2003. Trade and Forests: Why forest issues require attention in trade negotiations. International Institute for International Development. Sept 2003 issue. 2pgs.

Martin, Patrick H. et al. "Forty Years of Tropical forest Recovery from Agriculture: Structure and Floristics of Secondary and Old-growth Riparian Forests in the Dominican Republic. *(Abstract).*

Mayers, J. and Vermeulen, S. 2002. Power from the trees: how good forest governance can help reduce poverty. IIED.

Meder, Angela. 1995. Rain Forests and Gorillas in Gabon. Gorilla Journal 11, December 1995.

Milner-Gulland, E. J. and J. R. Beddington. 1994. The Relative Effects of Hunting and Habitat Destruction on Elephant Population Dynamics over Time. Pachyderm No. 18, 1994.

Mubalama, Leonard and Claude Sikubwabo. 2002. Rate of decay of elephant dung in the central sector of Parc National des Virunga, Democratic Republic of Congo. Pachyderm No. 33, July-December 2002.

NATIONAL FOREST PROGRAMMES CD – DIGITAL FILES

The CD is an "information compendium". There are several sections including country profiles, two thematic digests (poverty and forestry and stakeholder participation), FAO technical support, the national forestry programme facility (through capacity development and knowledge sharing, the Facility is assisting countries to implement national forest programmes), and funding sources. It includes some pages on specific topics such as poverty alleviation and forestry, recently developed FAO websites, and pages from international partners. The digests provide collections of key electronic documents from experts and various international organizations on topics related to national forest programmes including short overviews, best practice guides, case studies and policy analyses. The Poverty and Forestry section has only 27 articles. One article, for example, is the "Forest Conservation Programme - Field experiences demonstrating linkages between biodiversity conservation and poverty alleviation". This link takes you to a series on IUCN initiatives, many with further links, some of which go to technical papers. Lot of good material buried in here on meaningfully helping poor people sustainably manage resources and further their own welfare.

Ndam Nouhou Tropical Mountain Ecosystem Functioning in America and Africa in relation to Biodiversity and Global Change

Limbe Botanical Garden and Rainforest Genetic conservation project, Fako Cameroun,December 9-15 1991 in Popayan Colombia.

Niger Delta Wetlands Center (NDWC). Plan For A Protection Area System In Niger Delta, Environmental Management Project (EMP) for Federal Environmental Protection Agency (FEPA), July 1997 Port Harcourt, Nigeria.

Oates, John F. 2000. Conservation of the Cross River Gorillas. Gorilla Journal 21, December 2000.

Oates, John F. The Cross River Gorilla: A Neglected and Critically Endangered Subspecies. *(Abstract).*

Oates, John F., Bergl, Richard A., and Linder, Joshua M. Biodiversity Patterns and Conservation in the Gulf of Guinea Forests. A Study Sponsored by: Center for Applied Biodiversity Science, Conservation International, Washington, D.C. and The Wildlife Conservation Society, Bronx, N.Y. November 2002.

Obiefuna, G. I., et al. 1999. Geological and Geotechnical Assessment of Selected Gully Sites, Yola Area, Northeast Nigeria. Journal of Environmental Hydrology. Volume 7, Paper 6, May1999.

Obot, Emmanuel, et al. 1997. STATUS OF GORILLA (*G. gorilla gorilla*) POPULATIONS IN CROSS RIVER NATIONAL PARK AND MBE MOUNTAIN. Cross River National Park (Okwangwo Division) Technical Report No 3.

Obot, Emmanuel, et al. 1998. A Population Survey of Elephants (*Loxodonta aficana cyclotis*) in Okwangwo Division of Cross River National Park. Cross River National Park (Okwangwo Division) Technical Report No 6.

Obot, Emmanuel. and Ogar, Gabriel. Vegetation Patterns in the Savanna Areas of Takamanda Forest Reserve. Consultancy report to the project for the protection of the forests around Akwaya (PROFA). September 2001.

Obot, E. and A. Majekodunmi. 2004. Gap Analysis in National Protected Areas Systems in Africa: Nigeria. Unpublished Report. A short assessment of the number of species protected by the Nigerian protected area system, focusing primarily on IUCN red listed or threatened species. Information was "sought" on know distribution of species and "distribution coordinates were displayed in Arcview" and compared to mapped protected areas. Whether a species distribution fell within a protected area was summarized. Results indicate that many species did not. Priority areas for conservation for Nigeria were listed. Obudu plateau was the only one in Cross River. Of interest are the incidence (presence or absence) of endangered species in Oban or Okwangwo and the checklist of animals, birds, and fish occurring in Okwangwo.

Okoneua, Esq., S. A. National Environmental Guidelines for logging and fuelwood extraction in Nigeria. Draft report for Federal environmental protection agency independence way, South Central, Area, Garki, Abuja.

Oliver, C.D. 2003. Sustainable Forestry – What is it? How do we achieve it? Journal of Forestry, Vol 101, No. 5.

Olsen, Kristin B. Ekwoge, Henry. Ongie, Rose M, Acworth, James. O'kah, Ebwekoh M. Tako, Charles. A community wildlife management model from mount Cameroon. Draft version.

Osborn, Ferrel V. 2002. Elephant-induced change in woody vegetation and its impact on elephant movements out of a protected area in Zimbabwe. Pachyderm No. 33, July-December 2002.

The Parliamentary Office of Science and Technology. 2005. The Bushmeat Trade. Postnote, February 2005, Number 236.

Paul, John R., et al. 2004. Arrested succession in logging gaps: is tree seedling growth and survivial limiting? (*Abstract*) African Journal of Ecology, December 2004, vol. 42, no. 4, pp. 245-251.

Peguy, T. Edwards, I. Cheek, M. Ndam, N.& Acworth, J. Mount Cameroon Cloud Forest Royal botanic gardens, Kew. 1999 pp.263-277.

Perlis, A, ed. 2003. Making Forestry Pay. Unasylva 212, 2003/1. Vol. 54. FAO. ISSN 004-6436

Plumptre, Andrew J. 2001. The Effects of Habitat Change Due to Selective Logging on the Fauna of Forests in Africa. *In* African rain forest ecology and conservation: an interdisciplinary perspective. Weber, William et al., editors. Yale University Press. p 463.

Population and Human Resource Division West Africa Department-Africa Region, Nigeria Poverty in the mist of plenty challenge of growth with inclusion, Report no.14733-UNI World Bank Poverty Assessment, May 31,1996

PRA consultants in Nigeria Zonal Participatory Rural Appraisal Studies and Workshops held in four Eco-geographic zone Zonal workshop held on Biodiversity Conservation in Nigeria, Consultancy report, 2002

Ray R.G. In Collaboration with the Canadian international development agency, Ottawa, Six Forest Inventories in the Tropics Ottawa, report no. 5 1971.

Rogers, M. E., et al. 2004. Western Gorilla Diet: A Synthesis From Six Sites. American Journal of Primatology 64:173-192.

Rudolph, Ellen K. South Africa Gallery. African Elephant *Loxodonta africana*. <u>www.drellenrudolph.com/africa/elephant.html</u>

Sarumi, M.B. Ladipo, D.O. Denton, L. Olapade, E.O. Badaru, K. Ughasoro C. Nigeria: Country Report to the FAO international Technical Conference on Plant Genetic Resources. (Leipzig, 1996). Ibadan, June 1995.

Scherr, S. J., A. White, and D. Kaimowitz. 2002. Making markets work for Forest Communities. Forest Trends - Center for International Forestry Research. ISBN 0-9713606-1-8

Shoshani, Jeheskel, et al. 2004. Elephants (*Loxodonta africana*) of Zoba Gash Barka, Eritrea: Part 2. Numbers and distribution, ecology and behaviour, and fauna and flora in their ecosystem. Pachyderm No. 36, January-June 2004.

Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity. 2002. Bonn Guidelines on Access to Genetic Resources and Fair and Equitable Sharing of the Benefits Arising out of their Utilization. Montreal Canada. ISBN 92-807-2255-7

Stanford, Craig B. 2005 The Bwindi-Impenetrable Great Ape Project. <u>http://www-rcf.usc.edu/~stanford/bigape.html</u>

Sterck, Frank J., et al. 1999. Light fluctuations, crown traits, and response delays for tree saplings in a Costa Rican lowland rain forest. Journal of Tropical Ecology 15, p 83-95.

Stromayer, Karl A. K. and Atanga Ekobo. 1992. The Distribution and Number of Forest Dwelling Elephants in Extreme Southeastern Cameroon. Pachyderm No. 15, 1992.

Sunderland Terry C.H, Besong Simon, Ayeni Julius S.O.

Distribution, Utilisation and Sustainability of the Non-Timber Forest Products of the Takamanda Forest Reserve, Cameroun. A Consultancy report for the project: Protection of the forests around Akwaya (PROFA) March, 2002

Sunderland Terry C.H., Ros Christopher J. Comiskey James A., Ngiamnsahi Augustin. The vegetation of the Campo faunal reserve and Ejagham forest reserve, Cameroon. International Cooperative Biodiversity Group (ICBG) Associate Prog.1.

Sunderland-Groves, Jacqueline L. and John F. Oates. 2003. Protection Strategies for Cross River Gorillas. Gorilla Journal, December 2003.

Toriola, D., Chareyre, P., and Buttler, A. 1998. Distribution of primary forest plant species in a 19year old secondary forest in French Guiana *(Abstract)* Journal of Tropical Ecology (1998), 14:323-340 Cambridge University Press.

Tuley, P. The Obudu Plateau, Utilization of high altitude, tropical grassland Bulletine del'I F.A.N. T. XXVIII, ser. A. no.3, 1966

Tutin, C.E., et al. 1997. The primate community of the Lopé Reserve, Gabon: diets, responses to fruit scarcity, and effects on biomass. American Journal of Primatology 1997; 42(1):1-24.

United Nations Environment Programme. Nellemann, Christian and Adrian Newton, ed. The Great Apes – the road ahead.

The University of California San Diego, Division of Social Sciences. African Ape Study Sites - Site Disturbance Ratings: Human Influence Scale (modified from Bishop et al. 1981). <u>http://weber.ucsd.edu/~jmoore/apesites</u>

The Vegetation of the Takamanda Forest Reserve. A report prepared for the project, "Protection of the Forests around Akwaya" (PROFA) MINEF JULY,2002.

UNASYLVA CD – DIGITAL FILES

A international journal of forestry published by FAO quarterly. The CD has all the quarterly publications from 1947 to 2000 and includes a catalogue and search function. To access more recent issues of the journal you need to go the FAO website. That's 58 years x 4 publications per year x say 8 articles per publication = 1856 articles! With the search function, if you know the title, author, or publication number you can link directly to an article. However, if you want to query for a subject, some of the words have to be in the title of the article or it won't show up. Out of 1856 articles, for example, querying on biodiversity only yielded 6 articles, querying on Nigeria yielded 0 articles, and ecosystem yielded only 4 articles. One of these "Tropical forest resources and biodiversity the risks of forest loss and degradation (1993, B.A. Wilcox) " is excellent. Many papers have excellent sources for further information in their literature cited section.

Unknown. Ecosystem of Africa's Highlands: A Case Study of Central and West Africa Mountane Forests.

Villard, Marc-André, ed. 2002. Habitat Fragmentation: Major Conservation Issue or Intellectual Attractor? Ecological Society of America.

Voysey, Benedict C. et al. 1999. Gorillas and seed dispersal in the Lopé Reserve, Gabon. I: Gorilla acquisition by trees. Journal of Tropical Ecology 15, p 23-38.

Watts, D.P. 1998. Long-Term Habitat Use by Mountain Gorillas (*Gorilla gorilla beringei*). 2. Reuse of Foraging Areas in Relation to Resource Abundance, Quality, and Depletion. International Journal of Primatology, August 1998, vol. 19, no. 4, pp. 681-702(22).

Watts, Joe. Rural Development Forest Network, Development towards Participatory Forest Management on Mount Cameroon (The Limbe Botanical Garden and Rainforest genetic conservation project) 1988-1994.

WesternGorilla.org 2005. Western Gorillas: A Strategy for their Conservation. <u>http://www.westerngorilla.org/Strategy.htm</u>

WesternGorilla.org 2003. Bushmeat & Logging. http://www.westerngorilla.org/bushmeat/logging.htm

WesternGorilla.org 2003. Western Gorilla Ecology. http://www.westerngorilla.org/facts/ecology.htm

WesternGorilla.org 2003. Western Gorilla Population Estimates. <u>http://www.westerngorilla.org/facts/population.htm</u>

White, Lee J. T. 1994. Biomass of rain forest mammals in the Lopé Reserve, Gabon. Journal of Animal Ecology 63, p 499-512.

White, Lee J. T. and Caroline E. G. Tutin. 2001. Why Chimpanzees and Gorillas Respond Differently to Logging. A Cautionary Tale from Gabon. *In* African rain forest ecology and conservation: an interdisciplinary perspective. Weber, William et al., editors. Yale University Press. p 449-462.

Whitney, Kenneth D., and Thomas B. Smith. 1997. Habitat use and resource tracking by African *Ceratogymna* hornbills: implications for seed dispersal and forest conservation. Animal Conservation (1998) 1, 107-117.

Whitney, Kenneth D., et al. 1988. Seed dispersal by *Ceratogymna* hornbills in the Dja Reserve, Cameroon., Journal of Tropical Ecology 14:351-371.

Wilkie, David S. Wildlife Conservation Society. 2001. Relative price of bushmeat.

Woodland Park Zoo, Seattle, WA. 2005. Animal Fact Sheets. Western Lowland Gorilla <u>http://www.zoo.org/educate/fact_sheets/gorilla/gorilla.htm</u>

Zoocheck Canada. 2005. Programs and Projects A Natural History of Elephants. <u>http://www.zoocheck.com/programs/entertain/Factsheets/elephant.shtml</u>

CAMEROON INFORMATION AND MAPS – DIGITAL FILES

- Agbor, Pamela A. and Arrey, Walters A. 2001. Non-governmental Organizations and Rorest Resource Management in Cameroon.
- **Bernard FOAHOM. 2001.** Biodiversity Planning Support Programme Integrating Biodiversity into the Forestry Sector Cameroon Case Study.
- **Carter, Jane**. RAIN FOREST CONSERVATION AND THE NEEDS OF LOCAL PEOPLE: A case study from South West Cameroon. Rural development forest network, ODI. The Limbe Botanic Garden and Rainforest genetic conservation project.
- CIDA Cameroon Program (2001 2006)
- Hutter, Carollyne ed. An Overview of Logging in Cameroon (2000). Global Forest Watch, World Resources Institute, Washington, DC, <u>www.wri.org/wri/</u> including a series of maps depicting logging concessions and activities.
- Essama-Nssah, B. and Gockowski, James J. 2000. Cameroon Forest Sector Development in a Difficult Political Economy Evaluation Country Case Study Series.. The World Bank.

www.worldbank.org/html/oed. ISBN 0-8213-4760-8 including Deforestation and Degradation of Moist Tropical Forests, Causes of Deforestation and Degradation, Incentives, The Importance of Forests in the Economy of Cameroon, Direct Bank Interventions in the Forest Sector, Interventions by the World Bank in the Agricultural Sector, Interventions in the Transport Sector The 1991 Forest Strategy, Biodiversity Resources in the Forests of Cameroon, Estimates of Forest Cover and Deforestation, The Yaoundé Environmental Summit of Central African Countries, IITA Forest Margins Ecoregional Approach, ASB Evaluation of Land Use Systems in the Humid Forest Margins Benchmark of Southern Cameroon, The Political Economy of Agricultural Liberalization, Shift in World Bank Strategy in Cameroon.

- Jeanrenaud, Sally. THE CONSERVATION DEVELOPMENT INTERFACE "A Study of Forest Use, Agricultural practices, and Perceptions of the Rainforest. Etinde Rainforest. South West Cameroon." A report submitted by Overseas Development Administration, October 1991.
- Vabi, Michael B. and Sikod, Fondo. July 2000. Land Tenure in Cameroon. Challenges of Reconciling Informal and Formal Land and Resource Access Tenure: Evidence from WWFsupported Conservation Sites in Cameroon.
- Comiskey, J.A., T.C. Sunderland, and J. Sunderland, editors. 2003. Takamanda: the Biodiversity of an African Rainforest, Smithsonian Institution, ISBN 1-893912-12-4

Takamanda Forest Reserve (*chpt* 1): Basic info on rainfall, elevation, geomorphology, climate and temperature, and a summary of flora and fauna diversity. Hunting issues and information on fragmentation and how it affects gorillas also included. Pages 6 and 7 identify possible focal taxa.

Adaptive Management (chpt 2)

Vegetation Assessment (*chpt 3*): In addition to the 10 1 ha biodiversity plots in this study there were two one ha biodiversity plots established in Nigeria (one in Okwango and one in "CRS national park" – Comiskey et al, unpublished data.) A prelim land use change and veg map developed based on satellite imagery. The chapter provides descriptions of five forest types in TFR including average number of species, basal area, and some general comments on structure. Habitat types included lowland forest (including riverine forest), lowland ridge forest, mid elev forest , montane forest, and high altitude grassland.

Lowland forest (rainforest, riverine, secondary): Somewhat homogenous in structure and composition. Has an upper & middle canopy and a shrub/herb layer. Large canopy trees for lowland forest listed on page 23. Riverine forest is that which is influenced by seasonal inundation and periodic flooding and is only somewhat distinct from terrestrial forest. In some areas pandanus palm and raffia are abundant and dominate. A bit about secondary forest on page 26. Land in the area that is not disturbed for 20 years after leaving it fallow regenerates well and forms dense secondary forest formations that grade easily into closed-canopy forest characterized by large trees. Antrocaryan micraster (timber species) regenerates well in canopy gaps.

Lowland ridge forests (300 to 500 m elev) are where the most trees with timber value occur (in combination with less understorey). There are many species found on ridge forests that aren't found in other forest types. Herbs and smaller shrubs are generally relatively sparse. Cola species are common.

Mid Elev Forest (500 to 800 m): A shorter canopy, a denser understorey, and increase in epiphytic vegetation. Less diverse than lowland forest. Contains both lowland and montane tree species. Some tree ferns.

Montane Forest (800 – 1500m): Short and often disjunct canopy, large numbers of trees with low basal area, and lower species richness. Epiphytic vegetation well developed.

High Altitude Grasslands: Large herbs and woody shrubs abundant. Also Pteridium aquilinum. Same as Obudu plateau.

The area is diverse and species richness decreases with altitude while tree density increases. Nigerian side of the border researched by Hall and Medler, 1975, and Keay 1979. Species of conservation priority are listed on pg 34 –most in lowland and ridge forest. Montane and grassland areas ecologically fragile however. Impacts of human practices briefly described on page 37.

Butterfly Fauna of TFR (*chpt 4*): 111 species found. Some species (listed pg 57) have a strong preference for dense wet forest conditions and some are good indicators of primary rain forest (4 listed on pg 58 that disappear at the first sign of disturbance).

Biodiversity Assessment of the Odonate Fauna of TFR (*chpt 5*): Dragonflies are excellent indicators of ecological health. Description (pg 73) of why the Nig/Cameroon border is so rich in biodiversity relative to drying periods during the Pleistocene era. In the lowlands there is a rich representation of dragonflies but a limited degree of endemism. Above 700 m tho there is a group that breed in the fast flowing rocky streams there is a suite of species which are susceptible to disturbance and opening of the canopy and have the potential to be used as indicators of forest quality (77) Page 80 lists habitat requirements.

Reptiles of TFR (*chpt 6*): 71 species. Some species of chameleon restricted to grassland and gallery forests. Three species of gecko are dependent on large old trees (decorticating bark) (pg 85).

Birds of the TFR (*chpt 7*): Endemism high (e.g. 24 species of bird restricted to the ridges corresponding to the Nigeria – Cameroon mountain chain. 313 species. One threatened and two vulnerable (one of which is Picathartes oreas). Area might be part of an EBA (endemic bird area) and is recommended to be an IBA (impt bird area). Submontane and montane important for avifauna. Middle altitude transition forest important cus it suffers most severe encroachment. Recommend that the highest elev receive full protection and a transborder conservation strategy.

Large Mammals (*chpt 8*): Very few animals in the reserve. There was evidence of forest elephant, giant forest hog, red river hog, forest buffalo, yellow backed duiker, red duiker, cross river gorilla, chimpanzee, drill, red eared guenon, mona monkey, putty nose guenon, crowned guenon, and Preuss's guenon. Population and hunting pressure resulting from it have led to unsustainable bushmeat harvesting however. Projections are that many species will be extirpated in the near future.

Surveys of the Cross River Gorilla and Chimpanzee Populations in the TFR (*chpt9*): Critically endangered and occur in only 4 isolated subpopulations. Population recovers slowly because of interbirth interval of ~ 4 years and late maturation. A new road between Takamand and Mbulu forests is thought to prevent gorilla movement between areas (pg 130). Gorillas and chimps both confined to highland areas (> 500 m). Gorilla population very fragmented and sign almost completely absent for the matrix of the lowland areas within which highlands embedded. Gorilla density low but ~ 20 times higher in the highlands than lowlands. Gorillas prefer steeper slopes and higher altitudes. Approx 15,000 people (43 villages) live in and around TFR. More human sign in the lowlands than highlands.

Fisheries in the Southern Border Zone (*chpt 10*): Fishing in the area was found to contribute as much as game hunting to local consumption and trade. PROFA (a GTZ sponsored project) produced a management plan for the area (2000 to 2003) that ensure biodiversity. Fish species caught on page 146. 54 species recorded in the rivers. In Okwangwo there were 31 species recorded. 3 o4 endemics. Teugels et al 1992, say the cross river has more fish species than any other comparable west African river. Some obvious recommendations made on page 50.

Distribution, Useage, and Sustainability of NTFPs (*chpt 11*): Definition (pg 162). Represent an average of 39% of household income. Bush mango and eru most important as source of income.

Also important are raffia, rattan, chewing stick, bush onion, cola, bush plum etc. Bush surveys yield data supporting the conclusion that NTFPs are being overharvested in some areas because of destructive harvesting practices or harvesting all mature individuals creating an age class gap or complete lack of seeds. Bush mango, bush onion, and bush pepper are less threatened because harvesting practices do not destroy the plant. Pg 167 lists the NTFPs that are being harvested unsustainably.

Land Change (*chpt 12*): Satellite image analysis (1986 and 2000 – Landsat, 30m resolution). Eight classes of vegetation were defined (lowland forest, ridge forest, mid elevation forest, montane forest, grassland/bare, secondary forest/farms, water, shadow) and one forest conversion class (forest to secondary forest or farms). Areas smaller than 0.5 ha filtered out. Map in photo gallery, area for each class on page 178. It was unclear how much regrowth had to occur before areas of secondary forest began to appear as primary forest again.

APPENDIX B: KEY MAPS

Cross River State Base Map Cross River State Hydrology Map Cross River State Terrain Map Cross River State Gorilla Habitat Cross River State Elephant Habitat Cross River State Proposed Ecosystem Zones





LM Forest Resource Solutions Ltd and Living Earth Nigeria Foundation



LM Forest Resource Solutions Ltd and Living Earth Nigeria Foundation



LM Forest Resource Solutions Ltd and Living Earth Nigeria Foundation



LM Forest Resource Solutions Ltd and Living Earth Nigeria Foundation

